NUTRIENT ADEQUACY
OF EXCLUSIVE
BREASTFEEDING
FOR THE TERM INFANT
DURING THE FIRST
SIX MONTHS OF LIFE



DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION FOR HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT
DEPARTMENT OF CHILD AND ADOLESCENT HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION

The World Health Organization was established in 1948 as a specialized agency of the United Nations serving as the directing and coordinating authority for international health matters and public health. One of WHO's constitutional functions is to provide objective and reliable information and advice in the field of human health, a responsibility that it fulfils in part through its extensive programme of publications.

The Organization seeks through its publications to support national health strategies and address the most pressing public health concerns of populations around the world. To respond to the needs of Member States at all levels of development, WHO publishes practical manuals, handbooks and training material for specific categories of health workers; internationally applicable guidelines and standards; reviews and analyses of health policies, programmes and research; and state-of-the-art consensus reports that offer technical advice and recommendations for decision-makers. These books are closely tied to the Organization's priority activities, encompassing disease prevention and control, the development of equitable health systems based on primary health care, and health promotion for individuals and communities. Progress towards better health for all also demands the global dissemination and exchange of information that draws on the knowledge and experience of all WHO's Member countries and the collaboration of world leaders in public health and the biomedical sciences.

To ensure the widest possible availability of authoritative information and guidance on health matters, WHO secures the broad international distribution of its publications and encourages their translation and adaptation. By helping to promote and protect health and prevent and control disease throughout the world, WHO's books contribute to achieving the Organization's principal objective — the attainment by all people of the highest possible level of health.

NUTRIENT ADEQUACY OF EXCLUSIVE BREASTFEEDING FOR THE TERM INFANT DURING THE FIRST SIX MONTHS OF LIFE

NANCY F. BUTTE, PHD

USDA/ARS Children's Nutrition Research Center, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, USA

MARDIA G. LOPEZ-ALARCON, MD, PHD

Nutrition Investigation Unit, Pediatric Hospital, CMN, Mexico City, Mexico

CUTBERTO GARZA, MD, PHD

Division of Nutritional Sciences, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY, USA



WHO Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data

Butte, Nancy F.

Nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding for the term infant during the first six months of life / Nancy F. Butte, Mardia G. Lopez-Alarcon, Cutberto Garza.

1.Breastfeeding 2.Milk, Human – chemistry 3.Nutritive value 4.Nutritional requirements 5.Infant I.Lopez-Alarcon, Mardia G. II.Garza, Cutberto III.Expert Consultation on the Optimal Duration of Exclusive Breastfeeding (2001 : Geneva, Switzerland) IV.Title.

ISBN 92 4 156211 0 (NLM Classification: WS 125)

© World Health Organization 2002

All rights reserved. Publications of the World Health Organization can be obtained from Marketing and Dissemination, World Health Organization, 20 Avenue Appia, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland (tel: +41 22 791 2476; fax: +41 22 791 4857; email: bookorders@who.int). Requests for permission to reproduce or translate WHO publications – whether for sale or for non-commercial distribution – should be addressed to Publications, at the above address (fax: +41 22 791 4806; email: permissions@who.int).

The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the World Health Organization concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by the World Health Organization in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

The World Health Organization does not warrant that the information contained in this publication is complete and correct and shall not be liable for any damages incurred as a result of its use.

The named authors alone are responsible for the views expressed in this publication.

Designed by minimum graphics Printed in France

Contents

Αŀ	obrev	viations & acronyms	v
Fo	rewo	ord	vii
Ex	ecut	ive summary	1
1.	Con	nceptual framework	3
	1.1	Introduction	3
	1.2	Using ad libitum intakes to assess adequate nutrient levels	3
	1.3	Factorial approaches	4
	1.4	Balance methods	5
	1.5	Other issues	6
		1.5.1 Morbidity patterns	6
		1.5.2 Non-continuous growth	6
		1.5.3 Estimating the proportion of a group at risk for specific nutrient deficiencies	6
		1.5.4 Summary	7
2.	Hui	man-milk intake during exclusive breastfeeding in the first year of life	8
	2.1	Human-milk intakes	8
	2.2	Nutrient intakes of exclusively breastfed infants	8
	2.3	Duration of exclusive breastfeeding	8
	2.4	Summary	14
3.	Ene	rgy and specific nutrients	15
	3.1	Energy	15
		3.1.1 Energy content of human milk	15
		3.1.2 Estimates of energy requirements	15
		3.1.3 Summary	15
	3.2	Proteins	16
		3.2.1 Dietary proteins	16
		3.2.2 Protein composition of human milk	16
		3.2.3 Total nitrogen content of human milk	17
		3.2.4 Approaches used to estimate protein requirements	17
		3.2.5 Protein intake and growth	20
		3.2.6 Plasma amino acids	21
		3.2.7 Immune function	21
		3.2.8 Infant behaviour	22
		3.2.9 Summary	22

3.3 Vitamin A	22
3.3.1 Introduction	22
3.3.2 Vitamin A in human milk	22
3.3.3 Estimates of vitamin A requirements	23
3.3.4 Plasma retinol	23
3.3.5 Functional end-points	24
3.3.6 Summary	26
3.4 Vitamin D	26
3.4.1 Introduction	26
3.4.2 Factors influencing the vitamin D content of human milk	26
3.4.3 Estimates of vitamin D requirements	27
3.4.4 Vitamin D status and rickets	29
3.4.5 Vitamin D and growth in young infants	29
3.4.6 Vitamin D and growth in older infants	30
3.4.7 Summary	30
3.5 Vitamin B6	30
3.5.1 Introduction	30
3.5.2 Vitamin B6 content in human milk	30
3.5.3 Approaches used to estimate vitamin B6 requirements	31
3.5.4 Estimates of requirements	31
3.5.5 Vitamin B6 status of breastfed infants and lactating women	31
3.5.6 Growth of breastfed infants in relation to vitamin B6 status	32
3.5.7 Summary	32
3.6 Calcium	32
3.6.1 Human milk composition	32
3.6.2 Estimates of calcium requirements	32
3.6.3 Summary	33
3.7 Iron	34
3.7.1 Human milk composition	34
3.7.2 Estimates of iron requirements	34
3.7.3 Summary	35
3.8 Zinc	35
3.8.1 Human milk composition	35
3.8.2 Estimates of zinc requirements	35
3.8.3 Summary	37
References	38

Abbreviations & acronyms

AI Adequate intake

BMD Bone mineral density

BMC Bone mineral content

CDC Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (USA)

DPT Triple vaccine against diphtheria, pertussis and tetanus

DXA Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry

EAR Estimated average requirement

EAST Erythrocyte aspartate transaminase

EPLP Erythrocyte pyridoxal phosphate

ESPGAN European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

IDECG International Dietary Energy Consultative Group

IU International units

NCHS National Center for Health Statistics (USA)

NPN Non-protein nitrogen PLP Pyridoxal phosphate

PMP Pyridoxamine phosphate

PNP Pyridoxine phosphate

PTH Parathyroid hormone

RE Retinol equivalents

SD Standard deviation

SDS Standard deviation score

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

UNU United Nations University

WHO World Health Organization

Foreword

This review, which was prepared as part of the background documentation for a WHO expert consultation, evaluates the nutrient adequacy of exclusive breast-feeding for term infants during the first 6 months of life. Nutrient intakes provided by human milk are compared with infant nutrient requirements. To avoid circular arguments, biochemical and physiological methods, independent of human milk, are used to define these requirements.

The review focuses on human-milk nutrients, which may become growth limiting, and on nutrients for which there is a high prevalence of maternal dietary deficiency in some parts of the world; it assesses the adequacy of energy, protein, calcium, iron, zinc, and vitamins A, B6, and D. This task is confounded by the fact that the physiological needs for vitamins A and D, iron, zinc – and possibly other nutrients – are met by the combined availability of nutrients in human milk and endogenous nutrient stores.

In evaluating the nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding, infant nutrient requirements are assessed in terms of relevant functional outcomes. Nutrient adequacy is most commonly evaluated in terms of growth, but other functional outcomes, e.g. immune response and neurodevelopment, are also considered to the extent that available data permit.

This review is limited to the nutrient needs of infants. It does not evaluate functional outcomes that depend on other bioactive factors in human milk, or behaviours and practices that are inseparable from breastfeeding, nor does it consider consequences for mothers. In determining the optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding in specific contexts, it is important that functional outcomes, e.g. infant morbidity and mortality, also are taken into consideration.

The authors would like to thank the World Health Organization for the opportunity to participate in the expert consultation; and Nancy Krebs, Kim Michaelson, Sean Lynch, Donald McCormick, Paul Pencharz, Mary Frances Picciano, Ann Prentice, Bonny Specker and Barbara Underwood for reviewing the draft manuscript. They also express special appreciation for the financial support provided by the United Nations University.

¹ Expert consultation on the optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding, Geneva, World Health Organization, 28–30 March 2001.

Executive summary

In this review nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding is most commonly evaluated in terms of growth. Other functional outcomes, e.g. immune response and neurodevelopment, are considered when data are available. The dual dependency on exogenous dietary sources and endogenous stores for meeting requirements is also considered in evaluating human milk's nutrient adequacy. When evaluating the nutrient adequacy of human milk, it is essential to recognize the incomplete knowledge of infant nutrient requirements in terms of relevant functional outcomes. Particularly evident is the inadequacy of crucial data for evaluating the nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding for the first 4 to 6 months.

Mean intakes of human milk provide sufficient *energy* and *protein* to meet mean requirements during the first 6 months of infancy. Since infant growth potential drives milk production, the distribution of intakes likely matches the distribution of energy and protein requirements.

The adequacy of vitamin A and vitamin B6 in human milk is highly dependent upon maternal diet and nutritional status. In well-nourished populations the amounts of vitamins A and B6 in human milk are adequate to meet the requirements for infants during the first 6 months of life. In populations deficient in vitamins A and B6, the amount of these vitamins in human milk will be sub-optimal and corrective measures are called for, either through maternal and/or infant supplementation, or complementary feeding for infants.

The *vitamin D* content of human milk is insufficient to meet infant requirements. Infants depend on sunlight exposure or exogenous intakes of vitamin D; if these are inadequate, the risk of vitamin D deficiency rises with age as stores become depleted in the exclusively breastfed infant.

The *calcium* content of human milk is fairly constant throughout lactation and is not influenced by maternal diet. Based on the estimated calcium intakes of exclusively breastfed infants and an estimated absorption efficiency of > 70%, human milk meets the calcium requirements of infants during the first 6 months of life.

The dual dependency on exogenous dietary sources and endogenous stores to meet requirements needs to be borne in mind particularly when assessing the adequacy of iron and zinc in human milk. Human milk, which is a poor source of iron and zinc, cannot be altered by maternal supplementation with these two nutrients. It is clear that the estimated iron requirements of infants cannot be met by human milk alone at any stage of infancy. The iron endowment at birth meets the iron needs of the breastfed infant in the first half of infancy, i.e. 0 to 6 months. If an exogenous source of iron is not provided, exclusively breastfed infants are at risk of becoming iron deficient during the second half of infancy. Net zinc absorption from human milk falls short of zinc needs, which appear to be subsidized by prenatal stores.

In the absence of studies specifically designed to evaluate the time at which prenatal stores become depleted, circumstantial evidence has to be used. Available evidence suggests that the older the exclusively breastfed infant the greater the risk of specific nutrient deficiencies.

The inability to estimate the proportion of exclusively breastfed infants at risk of specific deficiencies is a major drawback in terms of developing appropriate public health policies. Conventional methodologies require that a nutrient's average dietary requirement and its distribution are known along with the mean and distribution of intakes and endogenous stores.

Moreover, exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months is not a common practice in developed countries, and it is rarer still in developing countries. There is a serious lack of measurement, which impedes evaluation, of the human-milk intakes of 6-month-old exclusively breastfed infants from developing countries. The marked attrition rates in exclusive breastfeeding through 6 months postpartum, even among women who are both well nourished and highly motivated, is a major gap in our understanding of the biological, cultural and social determinants of the duration of exclusive breastfeeding. A limitation to promoting exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life is our lack of understanding of the reasons for the attrition rates. Improved understanding of the biological, socioeconomic and

cultural factors influencing the timing of supplementation of the breastfed infant's diet is an important part of advocating a globally uniform infant-feeding policy that accurately weighs both this policy's benefits and possible negative outcomes.

It is important to recognize that this review is limited to the nutrient needs of infants. No attempt has been made to evaluate functional outcomes that depend on other bioactive factors in human milk, or behaviours and practices that are inseparable from breastfeeding. Neither have the consequences, positive or negative, for mothers been considered. It is important that functional outcomes, e.g. infant morbidity and mortality, be taken carefully into account in determining the optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding in specific environments.

This review was prepared parallel to, but separate from, a systematic review of the scientific literature on the optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding.¹ These assessments served as the basis for discussion during an expert consultation (Geneva, 28–30 March 2001), whose report is found elsewhere.²

¹ Kramer MS, Kakuma R. The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: a systematic review. Geneva, World Health Organization, document WHO/NHD/01.08–WHO/FCH/CAH/ 01.23, 2001.

² The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding: report of an expert consultation. Geneva, World Health Organization, document WHO/NHD/01.09–WHO/FCH/CAH/01.24, 2001.

1. Conceptual framework

1.1 Introduction

Dietary surveys of presumably healthy populations, factorial approaches (summing needs imposed by growth and maintenance requirements), and balance techniques (measuring "inputs and outputs") are the methods used most often to estimate nutrient requirements. None are particularly satisfactory because they seldom adequately address growing concerns that nutrient intakes support long-term health and optimal functional capacities rather than just avoid acute deficiency states. These concerns are most evident when considering the nutrient needs of infants because of the paucity of data for estimating most nutrient requirements and the limited number of functionally relevant outcome measures for this age group. As these limitations apply to nearly all the sections that follow, they will not be repeated.

Growth is the most commonly used functional outcome measure of nutrient adequacy. This outcome is particularly useful for screening purposes because the normal progression of growth is dependent on many needs being met and many physiological processes proceeding normally. However, this strength also betrays this outcome's principal weakness since abnormal growth is highly non-specific. The single or multiple etiologies of abnormal growth are usually difficult to ascertain confidently. This is most apparent in the differential diagnosis of failure to thrive found in most standard paediatric texts (1). Yet, this outcome is key to present approaches for interpreting dietary surveys, calculating factorial estimates and evaluating outcomes of balance studies. Specific issues, which relate to dependence on growth for estimating nutrient needs by each of the above-listed methods, are considered in most of the sections that follow.

Another problem that is almost unique to infancy (possible exceptions may be found in specific processes during pregnancy and lactation) is that the normal progression of growth and development during this life stage likely relies on both exogenous sources and endogenous stores of nutrients. For exclusively breastfed infants, these are met by human milk and endogenous nutrient stores transferred to the infant from the mother during gestation (see sections below on iron, vitamins

A and D, and zinc). It is becoming increasingly clear that this is likely the case for iron, zinc and possibly calcium. Calcium is included because the physiological significance of the transient lower bone mineral content observed in breastfed infants, compared to their formula-fed counterparts, is not understood. Assessing nutrient needs without acknowledging this dual dependency likely leads to faulty conclusions.

To make matters yet more complicated, it is clear that there is a range between clear deficiency and "optimal" adequacy within which humans adapt. The closer one is to deficiency within that range, the more vulnerable one is to common stresses (e.g. infections) and the less one is able to meet increased physiological demands (e.g. growth spurts). Perhaps the best examples of the conceptual difficulties that arise due to the capacity of humans to "adapt" to a range of intakes are debates that swirl around the "small is beautiful" proposition and the "adaptation to lower energy intakes" viewpoint. The former has been discredited fairly conclusively while the latter has been abandoned in recent estimates of energy needs; this is in recognition of the fact that humans can adapt to a range of energy intakes, but at a cost whenever there are sustained deviations from requirement levels (2, 3). Thus, energy requirements are estimated on the basis of multiples of basal metabolic rate to ensure that needs are met for both maintenance and socially acceptable and necessary levels of physical activity (3).

1.2 Using ad libitum intakes to assess adequate nutrient levels

The paucity of available functional measures of optimal intakes compared to functional measures of deficiency leads most investigators interested in assessing infant nutrient requirements to base their estimates on data concerning nutrient intakes by presumably healthy, exclusively breastfed infants, i.e. those with no overt evidence of deficiency. This exercise generally relies on estimates of intake volumes and human milk nutrient composition. For some studies, estimates of both have been obtained in the same infant-mother dyad. In most cases, either milk volume or milk composition is

assumed. Data on day-to-day variability for either measure are available for only a few studies. The most notable exceptions to these generalities are requirement estimates for energy (4), protein (5) and iron (6). Factorial approaches are used most commonly to estimate average requirements for energy and these two nutrients.

Generally speaking, estimates of nutrient requirements for the first year of life are based on measured intakes of human milk during the first 6 months. Estimated needs during the second 6 months are sometimes determined by extrapolating from these intake measures. The reasons for selecting the first 6 months appear arbitrary. One can offer physiological milestones as a reason for selecting this age, e.g. changes in growth velocities, stability in nutrient concentrations in human milk, disappearance of the extrusion reflex, teething, and enhanced chewing capabilities. However, the variability in the ages at which these milestones are reached is far greater than the specificity that the cut-off suggests.

As noted above, growth may be used to justify selecting the first 6 months as a basis for estimating nutrient requirements, although its use this way has severe limitations. Waterlow & Thomson (7), for example, concluded that exclusive breastfeeding sustained normal growth for only approximately 3 months. WHO and others have questioned the present international reference used to reach this and other conclusions related to the maintenance of adequate growth (8). At present, there is no universally accepted reference or standard that is used for assessing the normality of either attained growth or growth velocity in infants. In the absence of such a reference or standard, rationales used in this review that rely on growth are based on WHO data (8) for attained growth and growth velocity.

The composition of human milk changes dramatically in the postpartum period as secretions evolve from colostrum to mature milk. The stages of lactation correspond roughly to the following times postpartum: colostrum (0–5 days), transitional milk (6–14 days), and mature milk (15-30 days). Changes in human-milk composition are summarized in Table 1. The first 3 to 4 months of lactation appear to be the period of most rapid change in the concentrations of most nutrients. After that period nutrient concentrations appear to be fairly stable as long as mammary gland involution has not begun (9, 10). However, few studies assess the dietary and physiological factors that determine either the rate of change in nutrient concentrations or interindividual variability. Intake data appearing in subsequent sections are presented in monthly intervals. All intake estimates are derived from nutrient concentrations and human-milk volumes obtained in studies of self-selected or opportunistic populations. In no case are randomly representative data available for these types of assessments. When data are available, variability of milk volume and composition are estimated by pooled weighted variances of specific studies cited for each nutrient. Unless otherwise stated only studies of "exclusively" or "predominantly" breastfed infants were used to make these estimates.

To the extent possible no cross-sectional data of milk volumes and milk composition have been used in subsequent sections in order to minimize self-selection biases that such data present (11). However, it should be noted that most longitudinally designed studies have significant attrition rates as lactation progresses. Thus, these data also present special problems that are difficult to overcome.

1.3 Factorial approaches

Factorial approaches are generally based on estimates of maintenance needs, nutrient accretion that accompanies growth, measures of digestibility and/or absorption (bioavailability), and utilization efficiency. The sum of maintenance needs and accretion could be used to estimate requirement levels if dietary nutrients were absorbed and utilized with 100% efficiency. Since this does not occur, however, the sum is corrected to account for absorption rates and utilization efficiency.

Generally speaking, with the exception of protein, only maintenance, bioavailability and accretion rates will be of concern in the application of factorial approaches that target nutrient needs of exclusively human-milk fed infants. Thus, again with the exception of protein, in the sections that follow the efficiency of utilization of absorbed nutrients will be assumed to be 100%. The utilization of absorbed nutrients is determined by the nutrient's biological value, which relates to the efficiency with which a target nutrient (e.g. protein) is assimilated or converted to some functionally active form (e.g. efficiency of use of β -carotene compared to retinol).

Maintenance needs reflect endogenous losses related to cellular turnover (e.g. skin desquamation and intestinal epithelial shedding) and unavoidable metabolic inefficiency (e.g. endogenous urinary and biliary losses) of endogenous nutrient sources. Maintenance needs for young infants are known with greatest certainty where energy is concerned. Basal and resting metabolic rates generally are accepted as the best

Table 1. Human milk composition

Age (months)	Energy (kcal _{th} /g)ª	Protein (g/l)ª	Vitamin A (µmol/l)b	Vitamin D (ng/l) ^c	Vitamin B6 (mg/l) ^d	Calcium (mg/l)ª	lron (mg/l)ª	Zinc (mg/l)ª
1	0.67	11	1.7	645	0.13	266	0.5	2.1
2	0.67	9	1.7	645	0.13	259	0.4	2
3	0.67	9	1.7	645	0.13	253	0.4	1.5
4	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	247	0.35	1.2
5	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	241	0.35	1
6	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	234	0.3	1
7	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	228	0.3	0.75
8	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	222	0.3	0.75
9	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	215	0.3	0.75
10	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	209	0.3	0.5
11	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	203	0.3	0.5
12	0.67	8	1.7	645	0.13	197	0.3	0.5

^a Reference 40.

measure of energy maintenance needs. There are no unassailable estimates of protein maintenance needs of infants, whether or not breastfed, nor, for that matter, are there reliable estimates for any other nutrient. In adults, endogenous losses are estimated from data collected under conditions that limit the target nutrient's content in the diet to approximately zero.

Accretion rates are related to nutrient accumulations that accompany growth. In infancy, these rates are estimated from measured growth velocities and estimates of the composition of tissues gained as part of growth.

Bioavailability generally relates to the availability of nutrients for intestinal absorption (e.g. of ferric versus ferrous iron and the various forms of calcium commonly found in foodstuffs). The determinants of absorption are too nutrient-specific to be considered in this general introduction. Generally, the host's physiological state and the physical characteristics of nutrients as consumed are among the principal determinants of absorption.

In addition to a nutrient's obligatory losses that occur even when the target nutrient level falls to approximately zero, unavoidable losses are expected to increase as intake levels rise substantially above zero to meet physiological needs. This inefficiency is considered inconsistently in applications of factorial approaches, especially where the nutrient needs of infants are concerned. In the segments that follow, no allowance is made for this highly probable inefficiency other than in consideration of protein needs, and to the extent that

iron absorption rates are affected by the status of iron stores. For iron and other minerals, endogenous or unavoidable losses and the bioavailability of dietary sources are measurable simultaneously by multiple-tracer stable-isotope methods. Because these measurements are made at nutrient intakes above zero, estimates of bioavailability and endogenous losses include the unavoidable inefficiencies in both absorption and utilization that are incurred as intakes rise.

1.4 Balance methods

Balance methodologies also have been used to estimate nutrient needs and utilization. The general strengths and weaknesses of balance methods have been reviewed extensively and thus will not be repeated (12). For present purposes it is sufficient to acknowledge two characteristics of balance methods. The first is that their interpretation often relies heavily on estimates derived by factorial approaches, that is the appropriateness of retained quantities of target nutrients is determined by comparison with expected retention based on estimates derived by factorial methods. Thus, estimates of growth velocity and tissue composition are key to interpreting balance results. The second characteristic is that balance results are complicated by the unidirectional biases that are inherent in the method. These biases always favour overestimation of retention for two reasons. Firstly, intakes are generally overestimated (i.e. even if balance experiments are carefully carried out, it is much easier to miss "spills" than it is to "overfeed") and, secondly,

^b Reference *6*.

c Reference 122.

d Reference 150.

underestimating losses is much likelier than overestimating them (i.e. it is easier to under- than to overcollect urine, faeces and skin losses).

1.5 Other issues

1.5.1 Morbidity patterns

Three other issues should also be considered, the first of which is the estimation of common morbidity patterns. Although estimates of nutrient requirements reflect needs during health, it is increasingly recognized that accumulated deficits resulting from infections – due to decreased intakes and increased metabolic needs and losses – must be replenished during convalescence. Thus, it is generally important to consider safety margins in estimating nutrient needs. In the case of exclusive breastfeeding, the estimates presented below assume that infants will demand additional milk to redress accumulated energy deficits, that the nursing mother is able to respond to these increased demands, and that the increased micronutrient and protein intakes accompanying transient increases in total milk intake correct shortfalls accumulated during periods of illness. These assumptions are based on the generally recognized well-being of successfully breastfed infants, who experience occasional infections and live under favourable conditions. We recognize that no direct data are available to evaluate these assumptions under less favourable circumstances and that not enough is known to estimate the effects of possible constraints on maternal abilities to respond to transient increased demands by infants or constraints imposed by inadequate nutrient stores.

1.5.2 Non-continuous growth

The second issue is the possibility of non-continuous growth evaluated by Lampl, Veldhuis & Johnson (13). Estimates of nutrient needs based on factorial approaches assume steady, continuous growth. The literature reports observations in support of the possibility that growth occurs in spurts during infancy. Non-continuous growth's potential demands on nutrient stores and/or exogenous intakes have not been examined sufficiently, and thus no allowance for "non-continuous" growth needs is made in these assessments.

1.5.3 Estimating the proportion of a group at risk for specific nutrient deficiencies

The third issue relates to the challenges of estimating the proportion of exclusively breastfed infants at risk of specific nutrient deficiencies using either the "probability approach" (14) or the simplified estimated average requirement (EAR) cut-point method described by Beaton (15). The probability approach estimates the proportion of a target group at risk for a specific nutrient deficiency/inadequacy based on the distributions of the target group's average estimated nutrient requirement and the group's ad libitum intake of the nutrient of interest. To use this approach, intakes and requirements should not be correlated and the distributions of requirements and intakes should be known. The EAR cut-point method is a simplified application of the probability approach; it can be used to estimate the proportion of a population at risk when ad libitum intakes and requirements are not correlated, interindividual variation in the EAR is symmetrically distributed around the mean, and variance of intakes is substantially greater than the variance of the EAR. The dependence of both approaches on a lack of correlation between intakes and requirements presents some difficulties to the extent that the energy intakes, nutrient requirements and ad libitum milk intakes of exclusively breastfed infants are related to each other. This difficulty arises because milk production is driven by the infant's energy demands and by maternal abilities to meet them. Thus, as energy requirements rise, so should the intakes of all human-milk constituents.

The nature of the expected correlation can be illustrated by interrelationships between milk composition and energy and protein requirements imposed by growth. The protein-to-energy ratio of mature human milk is approximately 0.013 g protein/kcal_{th} (16). The energy cost of growth is approximately 19 kcal_{th}/kg, 12 kcal_{th}/ kg, 9 kcal_{th}/kg and 5 kcal_{th}/kg for the age intervals 3–4 months, 4-5 months, 5-6 months and 6-9 months, respectively (4). To the degree that increased energy requirements imposed by growth drive increased humanmilk consumption, the corresponding increase in protein intakes will be, respectively, 0.25, 0.15, 0.12 and 0.06 g protein/kg for the four above-mentioned age intervals. These values will increase to the extent that non-protein nitrogen (NPN) in human milk is utilizable (see section 3.2.3). The protein deposited per kg of body weight appears fairly stable, approximately 0.24 g/kg from 4 to 9 months of age (4). If we assume a net absorption rate of 0.85 for human-milk protein and an efficiency of dietary protein utilization of 0.73, the mean dietary protein requirement for growth is approximately

¹ 1000 kcal_{th} is equivalent to 4.18 MJ.

0.39 g protein/kg (see section 3.2.3). Thus, although increased energy needs imposed by growth should simultaneously drive protein intakes upward, human milk becomes less likely to meet the infant's need for protein unless energy requirements for activity increase in a manner that corrects the asynchrony described above. In the absence of such an adjustment, as long as human milk remains the only source of protein the growing infant becomes increasingly dependent upon stable or enhanced efficiencies in protein utilization. These types of correlations can be dealt with, in part, by suitable statistical techniques, as was demonstrated in the report of the International Dietary Energy Consultative Group (IDECG) evaluating protein and energy requirements (4, 5).

However, the challenges presented by relationships among milk intakes and micronutrient requirements and intakes are more problematic. Theoretically, the same type of relationship exists among energy and micronutrient intakes and requirements as described above for protein but with an added complication. As will be evident in the sections that follow, it is clear that physiological needs for vitamin A, vitamin D, iron, zinc and possibly other nutrients are met by the combined availability of nutrients from human milk and nutrient stores transferred from mother to infant during late gestation. Thus, dietary nutrient requirements vary with the adequacy of those stores. As a consequence there is inadequate information to estimate "true" physiological requirements (i.e. the optimal amounts of a nutrient that should be derived from human milk and from stores accumulated during gestation). We therefore have inadequate information to estimate what the dietary EAR is for any of the nutrients for which there is a co-dependency on stores and an exogenous supply to meet physiological needs. Arriving at an EAR for specific nutrients based on the intakes of healthy breastfed infants assumes, by definition, "optimal" nutrient stores. However, this assumption grows progressively more precarious as the nutritional status of pregnant women becomes increasingly questionable.

1.5.4 Summary

None of the available methods for assessing the nutrient needs of infants are entirely satisfactory because they address only short-term outcomes rather than short- and longer-term consequences for health. Of particular concern is the heavy dependence of most methods on growth in the absence of acceptable references/standards of normal attained growth and velocity, and their normal variability. A similar observation can be made regarding the paucity of information on the causes of the high attrition occurring in nearly all longitudinal studies of exclusive breastfeeding in the period of interest, i.e. beyond the first 4 months of life. Similarly, poor understanding of the determinants of interindividual variability in the nutrient content of human milk creates significant problems in assessing key questions related to the assessment of present methods for estimating nutrient requirements in the first year of life. The infant's co-dependence on nutrient stores acquired during gestation and nutrients from human milk further complicates estimation of nutrient requirements. This is particularly vexing in applying methods for assessing population rates of inadequacy that require estimates of average nutrient requirements.

2. Human-milk intake during exclusive breastfeeding in the first year of life

2.1 Human-milk intakes

Human-milk intakes of exclusively and partially breastfed infants during the first year of life in developed and developing countries are presented in Table 2 and Table 3, respectively. Studies conducted in presumably well-nourished populations from developed countries and in under-privileged populations from developing countries in the 1980s-1990s were compiled. In most of these studies, human-milk intake was assessed using the 24-hour test-weighing method. However, the 12hour test-weighing method (17, 18) and the deuterium dilution method (19–21) were also used in a few cases. If details were not provided in the publication regarding the exclusivity of feeding, partial breastfeeding was assumed. The overall mean human-milk intakes were weighted for sample sizes and a pooled standard deviation (SD) was calculated across studies.

Mean human milk intake of exclusively breastfed infants, reared under favourable environmental conditions, increases gradually throughout infancy from 699 g/day at 1 month, to 854 g/day at 6 months and to 910 g/day at 11 months of age. The mean coefficient of variation across all ages was 16% in exclusively breastfed infants compared to 34% in partially breastfed infants. Milk intakes among the partially breastfed hovered around 675 g/day in the first 6 months of life and 530 g/day in the second 6 months.

There is a notable decrease in sample size in studies encompassing the transitional period from exclusive breastfeeding to partial breastfeeding (22–27).

2.2 Nutrient intakes of exclusively breastfed infants

Nutrient intakes derived from human milk were calculated (Table 4) based on the mean milk intakes of exclusively breastfed infants from developed countries (Table 2) and human milk composition from well-nourished women (Table 1). The small samples of exclusively breastfed infants between 7 and 12 months of age limit the general applicability of these calculations for older breastfed infants.

2.3 Duration of exclusive breastfeeding

Although reasons for supplementation are not always discernible from the literature, evidence to date clearly indicates that few women exclusively breastfeed beyond 4 months. Numerous socioeconomic and cultural factors influence the decision to supplement human milk, including medical advice, maternal work demands, family pressures and commercial advertising. Biological factors including infant size, sex, development, interest/desire, growth rate, appetite, physical activity and maternal lactational capacity also determine the need and timing of complementary feeding. However, neither socioeconomic nor cultural nor biological factors have received adequate systematic attention.

In a longitudinal study in the USA, human-milk intake of infants was measured from 4 to 9 months through the transitional feeding period (26). Complementary feeding was started at the discretion of the mother in consultation with the child's paediatrician. Forty-two per cent (19/45) of the infants were exclusively breastfed until 5 months of age, 40% (18/45) until 6 months, and 18% (8/45) until 7 months.

In a Finnish study (25), 198 women intended to breastfeed for 10 months. The number of exclusively breastfed infants was 116 (58%) at 6 months, 71 (36%) at 7.5 months, 36 (18%) at 9 months, and 7 (4%) at 12 months. The reason given for introducing complementary feeding before the age of 4 to 6 months was the infant's demand appeared greater than the supply of human milk. This was decided by the mother in 77 cases and by the investigators in 7 cases. Complementary feeding reversed the progressive decline in the standard deviation score (SDS) for length from -0.52 to -0.32 (p=0.07) during the 6 to 9-month period. These authors concluded that, although some infants can thrive on exclusive breastfeeding until 9 to 12 months of age, on a population level prolonged exclusive breastfeeding carries a risk of nutritional deficiency even in privileged populations.

In a study in the USA of growth and intakes of energy and zinc in infants fed human milk, despite intentions to exclusively breastfeed for 5 months, 23% of mothers added solids to their infant's diet at 4.5 months; 55%

Table 2. Human-milk intake of infants from developed countries

									Age (mont	hs)								
		1			2			3			4			5			6		
Reference	Country	Mea	ı SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N
Exclusively breastfed inf	ants																		
Butte et al. (<i>19</i>)	USA							691	141	8	724	117	14						
Butte et al. (16)	USA	751	130	37	725	131	40	723	114	37	740	128	41						
Chandra (<i>22</i>)	Canada										793	71	33	856	99	31	925	112	28
Dewey & Lönnerdal (<i>23</i>)	USA	673	192	16	756	170	19	782	172	16	810	142	13	805	117	11	896	122	11
Dewey et al. (29)	USA (boys)							856	129	34									
Dewey et al. (29)	USA (girls)							775	125	39									
Goldberg et al. (<i>212</i>)	UK	802	179	10				792	177	10									
Hofvander et al. (213)	Sweden	656		25	773		25	776		25									
Janas et al. (<i>214</i>)	USA				701		11	709		11									
Krebs et al. (28)	USA							690	110	71									
Köhler et al. (<i>215</i>)	Sweden				746	101	26	726	143	21									
Lönnerdal et al. (216)	Sweden	724	117	11	752	177	12							756	140	12			
Michaelsen et al. (40)	Denmark				754	167	60				827	139	36						
Neville et al. (24)	USA	668	117	12	694	98	12	734	114	10	711	100	12	838	134	12	820	79	9
Pao et al. (217)	USA		159	11				833		2							682		1
Picciano et al. (218)	USA		135	26	601	123	26	626	117										-
Rattigan et al. (219)	Australia	1187		5				1238											
Salmenperä et al. (61)	Finland			•						-	790	140	12				800	120	31
Stuff et al. (<i>220</i>)	USA										' ' '			735	65	9			•
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA										792	111	19	705	0,5	•			
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA										792	111							
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA											150		729	165	18			
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA											189	8	769			818	166	8
van Raaij et al. (221)	Netherlands	692	122	16	718	122	16				' ' '	107	٠	, , ,	.,,	Ů	0.0		ŭ
van Raaij et al. (221)	Netherlands	072	122	10		131													
Whitehead & Paul (27)	UK (boys)					116		820	187	23	829	168	18	790	112	5	922		1
Whitehead & Paul (27)	UK (girls)				677		20	742			775	138		814			838	88	4
Wood et al. (222)	USA	499	137	17		178		758			793	215		789			030	00	7
Wood & di. (222)	UJA		137	17	127	170	20	750	201	Z I	773	213	17	707	1/3	17			
Mean, weighted for sam	ple size	699			731			751			780			796			854		
Pooled SD	-	134			132			130			138			141			118		
N		186			354			376			257			131			93		
Number of study groups		11			14			17			13			10			8		

Table 2. Human-milk intake of infants from developed countries (continued)

									Age (mont	hs)								
		1			2			3			4			5			6		
Reference	Country	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N
Partially breastfed Infant	s																		
Dewey et al. (<i>29</i>)	USA (boys)																814	183	27
Dewey et al. (<i>29</i>)	USA (girls)																733	155	33
Köhler et al. (<i>215</i>)	Sweden													722	114	13	689	120	12
Krebs et al. (<i>28</i>)	USA													720	130	16			
Michaelsen et al. (40)	Denmark				488	232	16				531	277	26						
Pao et al. (<i>217</i>)	USA	485	79	4				467	100	11							395	175	6
Paul et al. (<i>223</i>)	UK				787	157	28	824	176	28	813	168	28	717	192	25	593	207	26
Paul et al. (<i>223</i>)	UK				676	87	20	728	141	19	741	182	20	716	233	17	572	225	19
Prentice et al. (224)	UK				741	142	48	785	168	47	783	176	48	717	207	42	588	206	45
Rattigan et al. (219)	Australia																11282	16.9	5
Stuff et al. (220)	USA																640	94	17
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA													703	156	19	595	181	19
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA																648	196	18
van Raaij et al. (221)	Netherlands							746	175	16									
Whitehead & Paul (27)	UK (boys)				648		1		123	5	787	172	10	699	204	20	587	188	25
Whitehead & Paul (27)	UK (girls)						-	601		2	664	258	6	662			500		
WHO (225)	Hungary	607	123	84	673	144	86		147		631	168		***		•	539		
WHO (225)	Sweden	642			745			776	95		791	131					560		
					1						1								_
Mean, weighted for samp	le size	611			697			730			704			710			612		
Pooled SD		129			150			149			184			194			180		
N		116			227			241			251			163			380		
Number of study groups		3			7			9			8			8			15		
					ı			1	Age (mont	hs)			1					
		7			8			9			10			11			12		
Reference	Country	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N
Exclusively breastfed Info	ınts																		
Chandra (<i>22</i>)	Canada	872	0	27	815														
Neville et al. (24)	USA	848	63	6	818	158	3												
Salmenperä et al. (<i>61</i>)	Finland							890	140	16				910	133	10			
Whitehead & Paul (27)	UK	854		1															
Mean, weighted for same	le size	867			815			890						910					
Mean, weighted for samp	le size	867			815 103			890 140						910 133					
Mean, weighted for samp Pooled SD N	le size	867 118 34			815 103 27			890 140 16						910 133 10					

Table 2. Human-milk intake of infants from developed countries (continued)

									Age (mont	hs)								
		7			8			9			10			11			12		
Reference	Country	Meai	ı SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N
Partially breastfed Infa	nts																		
Dewey et al. (<i>43</i>)	USA	875	142	8	834	99	7	774	180	5	691	233	5	516	215	6	759	28	2
Dewey et al. (<i>29</i>)	USA (boys)							687	233	25							499	270	20
Dewey et al. (<i>29</i>)	USA (girls)							605	197	25							402	228	22
Krebs et al. (28)	USA	640	150	71															
Michaelsen et al. (40)	Denmark							318	201	18									
Pao et al. (<i>217</i>)	USA							554		3									
Paul et al. (<i>223</i>)	UK	484	182	21	340	206	18	251	274	12									
Paul et al. (<i>223</i>)	UK	506	255	16	367	266	12	443	319	7									
Prentice et al. (224)	UK	493	216	38	342	228	31	328	292	19									
Rattigan et al. (219)	Australia							884	252	4							880	74	4
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA	551	142	19															
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA	602	186	18	522	246	18												
Stuff & Nichols (26)	USA	677	242	8	645	250	8	565	164	8									
van Raaij et al. (<i>221</i>)	Netherlands	573	187	16															
Whitehead & Paul (<i>27</i>)	UK (boys)	484	181	21	342	203	18												
Whitehead & Paul (27)	UK (girls)	481	246	15	329	242	11												
WHO (225)	Sweden							452	301	28									
Mean, weighted for san	ıple size	569			417			497			691			516			497		
Pooled SD	•	188			226			249			233			215			238		
N		251			123			154			5			6			48		
Number of study groups	;	11			8			11			1			1			4		

Table 3. Human-milk intake of infants from developing countries

								I	\ge (mont	hs)								
		1			2			3			4			5			6		
Reference	Country	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N
Exclusively breastfed infan	ıts																		
Butte et al. (20)	Mexico										885	146	15						
Cohen et al. (<i>30</i>)	Honduras										806		50	824		50	823		50
Gonzalez-Cossio et al. (226)	Guatemala	661	135	27	749	143	27							776	153	27			
Naing & Co (18)	Myanmar	423	20	29	480	20	29	556	30	29	616	16	24	655	27	17	751	15	6
van Steenbergen et al. (<i>227</i>)	Indonesia	828	41	5	862	184	6	732	90	5	768	109	6	728	101	3	727	224	8
Mean, weighted for sample	e size	562			634			582			768			778			804		
Pooled SD		92			110			42			63			83			76		
N		61			62			34			95			97			64		
Number of study groups		3			3			2			4			4			3		

Table 3. Human-milk intake of infants from developing countries (continued)

								1	Age (mont	ths)							
		1			2			3			4			5			6	
Reference	Country	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD
Partially breastfed Infants																		
Butte et al. (<i>20</i>)	Mexico																869	150
Cohen et al. (<i>30</i>)	Honduras										799		47	688		47	699	
Cohen et al. (<i>30</i>)	Honduras										787		44	731		44	725	
Coward et al. (21)	Papua New Guinea					190												
de Kanashiro et al. (<i>17</i>)	Peru				1	245					690	2401	26				655	2261
Frigerio et al. (<i>228</i>)	Gambia				738		16											
Gonzalez-Cossio et al. (<i>226</i>)	Guatemala	655		26		153								721			720	165
Gonzalez-Cossio et al. (<i>226</i>)	Guatemala		138	22	1	112									128		776	121
Gonzalez-Cossio et al. (226)	Guatemala	887	125	27	727	113	27							769	128	27	771	117
Hennart & Vis (<i>229</i>)	Central Africa	517	169	8				605	78								525	95
Prentice et al. (224)	Gambia		113	7	705	183	8	782	168	6	582	169	10	643	149	17		
van Steenbergen et al. (<i>228</i>)	Kenya	778	180	7				619	197	13				573	208	9		
van Steenbergen et al. (<i>227</i>)	Indonesia	693	138	32	691	117	31	712	118	29	725	131	30	691	97	31	664	109
WHO (225)	Guatemala (urban)	524	246	32	561	222	30	653	255	28								
WHO (225)	Philippines (urban)	336	191	34	404	242	25	320	200	20	344	244	10				374	117
WHO (225)	Guatemala (urban)	519	186	28				548	173	30							586	185
WHO (225)	Philippines (urban)	502	176	32	577	154	23	693	117	32	586	167	27				597	214
WHO (225)	Guatemala (rural)	543	131	28					151	27							588	142
WHO (225)	Philippines (rural)	571	187	27	689	216	30	622	221	28	613	201	23				589	136
WHO (225)	Zaire (urban)	609	244	135	656	256	156	588	202	99	607	185	58				641	1981
WHO (<i>225</i>)	Zaire (rural)	338	159	52	355	132	50	356	173	57	368	147	66				357	170
Mean, weighted for sample	size	568			636			574			634			714			611	
Pooled SD		196			212			182			177			107			166	
N		497			590			391			441			223			694	
Number of study groups		15			14			12			10			8			16	
								,	Age (mont	ths)							
		7			8			9			10			11			12	
Reference	Country	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD
Exclusively breastfed infan																		
van Steenbergen et al. (<i>227</i>)	Indonesia	740	7	2	691	143	6											
Mean, weighted for sample	size	740			691													
Pooled SD		7			143													
N		2			6													
Number of study groups		1			1													

Table 3. Human-milk intake of infants from developing countries (continued)

									Age (mont	hs)								
		7			8			9			10			11			12		
Reference	Country	Mear	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N	Mean	SD	N
Partially breastfed Infants																			
Coward et al. (<i>21</i>)	Papua New Guinea	936	173	8															
de Kanashiro et al. (<i>17</i>)	Peru				624	219	10							565 2	208	00			
Hennart & Vis (<i>229</i>)	Central Africa							580	73	39							582	55	43
van Steenbergen et al. (<i>227</i>)	Indonesia	617	80	28	635	149	23												
WHO (225)	Philippines (urban)							321	156	16									
WHO (225)	Philippines (urban)							558	183	31							548	158	29
WHO (225)	Guatemala (urban)							587	186	28									
WHO (225)	Zaire (urban)							613	193	72							593	192	60
WHO (225)	Guatemala (rural)							602	187	28									
WHO (225)	Philippines (rural)							534	176	32							502	185	26
WHO (<i>225</i>)	Zaire (rural)							378	153	91							407	174	85
Mean, weighted for sample	e size	688			635			516						565			511		
Pooled SD		106			149			167						208			164		
N		36			23			337						100			243		
Number of study groups		2			1			8						1			5		

Table 4. Nutrient intakes derived from human milka

Age (month)	Human milk intake (g/day)	Human milk intake, corrected for IWL ^b (g/day)	Energy (kcal _{th} / day)	Protein (g/day)	Vitamin A (µmol/day)	Vitamin D (ng/day)	Vitamin B6 (mg/day)	Calcium (mg/day)	Iron (mg/day)	Zinc (mg/day)
1	699	734	492	8.1	1.25	473	0.1	195	0.37	1.54
2	731	768	514	6.9	1.3	495	0.1	199	0.31	1.54
3	751	803	538	7.2	1.37	518	0.1	203	0.32	1.20
4	780	819	549	6.6	1.39	528	0.11	202	0.29	0.98
5	796	836	560	6.7	1.42	539	0.11	201	0.29	0.84
6	854	897	601	7.2	1.52	578	0.12	210	0.27	0.90
7	867	910	610	7.3	1.55	587	0.12	208	0.27	0.68
8	815	856	573	6.8	1.45	552	0.11	190	0.26	0.64
9	890	935	626	7.5	1.59	603	0.12	201	0.28	0.70
10	900	945	633	7.6	1.61	610	0.12	198	0.28	0.47
11	910	956	640	7.6	1.62	616	0.12	194	0.29	0.48

^a Nutrient intakes calculated based on the mean milk intakes of exclusively breastfed infants from developed countries (Table 2) and human milk composition from well-nourished women (Table 1).

 $^{^{\}rm b}$ IWL = insensible water losses.

added solids at 6 months and 93% added solids at 7 months (28).

In a Canadian study, the growth performance of 36 exclusively breastfed infants was monitored (22). The number (percent) of children displaying growth faltering – defined as below the NCHS 10th weight-for-age percentile – increased from 3 (8.3%) at 4 months to 5 (13.6%) at 5 months, 8 (22.2%) at 6 months, 9 (25%) at 7 months, and 12 (33.3%) at 8 months. Even in well-nourished women, exclusive breastfeeding did not sustain growth beyond 4 months of age according to the 1977 growth curves; furthermore, growth faltering was associated with higher rates of infectious morbidity.

Breastfed boys consistently consumed more human milk than breastfed girls did (29, 27). Girls tended to be exclusively breastfed longer than boys were; complementary foods were offered to boys at 4.1 months and to girls at 4.9 months (27). In the same study, after 4 months only 20% of the boys and 35% of the girls were exclusively breastfed. Complementary feeding resulted in some increase in total energy intake in boys but not in girls.

Since exclusive breastfeeding is rare in developing countries, the number of observational studies on human-milk intakes of exclusively breastfed infants is limited. An intervention study was conducted in Honduras where one group (n=50) was required to breastfeed exclusively for 6 months (30). Although this is an important study, it may not be totally representative of all mothers and infants in that community. Sixty-four women were ineligible to participate because they did not maintain exclusive breastfeeding through 16 weeks for the following reasons: insufficient milk (n=26), personal choice (n=16), maternal health (n=12), and family pressure not to breastfeed exclusively (n=10). Weight gain (1092 ± 356 g) in the exclusively breastfed group was similar to the supplemented groups; however, the SD (\pm 409 g) of weight gain of exclusively breastfed infants of mothers with low BMI was greater than the supplemented infants in both groups. It is unclear whether all infants were growing satisfactorily. Based on this limited number of studies, intakes of exclusively breastfed infants were, on average, similar to those of infants between 4 and 6 months of age from developed countries.

More recently, encouraging results have accrued from community-based breastfeeding promotion programmes in developing countries. For example, an intervention conducted in Mexico to promote exclusive breastfeeding succeeded in increasing rates of predominant breastfeeding above controls at 3 months postpartum from

12% in controls to 50% and 67% in the experimental groups (31). Rates of exclusive breastfeeding were 12% in controls and 38–50% in experimental groups. Although the programme succeeded in promoting exclusive breastfeeding, it did not approach the goal of exclusive breastfeeding for 6 months.

Meanwhile, in Dhaka, Bangladesh, counsellors – local mothers who received 10 days' training – paid 15 homebased counselling visits (2 in the last trimester of pregnancy, 3 early postpartum, and fortnightly until infants were 5months old) in the intervention group (32). For the primary outcome, the prevalence of exclusive breastfeeding at 5 months was 202/228 (70%) for the intervention group and 17/285 (6%) for the control group. For the secondary outcomes, mothers in the intervention group initiated breastfeeding earlier than control mothers and were less likely to give prelacteal and postlacteal foods. At day 4, significantly more mothers in the intervention group breastfed exclusively than controls.

2.4 Summary

Longitudinal studies conducted among well-nourished women indicate that, during exclusive breastfeeding, human-milk production rates gradually increase from ~700 g/day to 850 g/day at 6 months. Because of the high attrition rates in these studies, the corresponding milk-production rates represent only a select group of women and thus do not reflect the population variability in milk production and infant nutrient requirements.

Exclusive breastfeeding at 6 months is not a common practice in developed countries and appears to be rarer still in developing countries. Moreover, there is a serious lack of documentation and evaluation of human-milk intakes of 6-month-old exclusively breastfed infants from developing countries. A limitation to the uniform recommendation of exclusive breastfeeding for the first 6 months of life is the lack of understanding of reasons for the marked attrition rates in exclusive breastfeeding, even among highly motivated women, in the lactation period of interest.

The limited relevant evidence suggests that sufficiency of exclusive breastfeeding is infant-specific (e.g. based on sex, size and growth potential), in addition to being linked to maternal lactational capacity and environmental factors that may affect an infant's nutritional needs and a mother's ability to respond to them. Nevertheless, recent intervention studies suggest that these variables are amenable to improvement in the presence of adequate support.

3. Energy and specific nutrients

3.1 Energy

3.1.1 Energy content of human milk

Proteins, carbohydrates and lipids are the major contributors to the energy content of human milk (33). Protein and carbohydrate concentrations change with duration of lactation, but they are relatively invariable between women at any given stage of lactation. In contrast, lipid concentrations vary significantly between both individual women and populations, which accounts for the variation observed in the energy content of human milk.

Differences in milk sampling and analytical methods also contribute to the variation in milk energy (34, 35). Within-day, within-feeding, and between-breast variations in milk composition; interference with milk "let-down"; and individual feeding patterns affect the energy content of human milk. In the present context, two milk-sampling approaches have been used to estimate the energy content of human milk – expression of the entire contents of one or both breasts at a specific time or for a 24-hour period, and collection of small aliquots of milk at different intervals during a feed. Human milk's energy content was determined directly from its heat of combustion measured in an adiabatic calorimeter, or indirectly from the application of physiological fuel values to the proximate analysis of milk protein, lactose and fat.

The mean energy content of human milk ranges from 0.62 kcal $_{th}$ /g to 0.80 kcal $_{th}$ /g (33). For present purposes, a value of 0.67 kcal $_{th}$ /g has been assumed.

3.1.2 Estimates of energy requirements

The energy requirements of infants may be derived from total energy expenditure and energy deposition (4). Total energy expenditure was measured by using the doubly labelled water method and energy deposition from protein and fat accretion in breastfed and formulafed infants at 3, 6, 9, 12, 18 and 24 months of age (36). In this study, the mean coefficient of variation for total energy expenditure (TEE) and total energy requirements were 18% and 17%, respectively, across all ages.

Total energy requirements of breastfed infants (Table 5) were estimated using weight at the 50th percentile of the WHO pooled breastfed data set (8). An allowance for growth was derived from the weight gains at the 50th percentile of the WHO pooled breastfed data set (8), the rates of fat and protein accretion, and the energy equivalents of protein and fat deposition taken as 5.65 kcal_{th}/g and 9.25 kcal_{th}/g, respectively (37). The TEE of breastfed infants (36) was predicted at monthly intervals using the equation TEE (kcal_{th}/day) = 92.8 * Weight (kg) – 151.7.

Energy intakes based on the mean milk intakes of exclusively breastfed infants appeared to meet mean energy requirements during the first 6 months of life. Since infant size and growth potential drive energy intake, it is reasonable to assume a positive relationship between energy intake and energy requirements. Positive correlations between energy intake and infant weight, and energy intake and weight gain, have been reported (37–39). The matching of intake to requirements for energy is unique in this regard. Thus, it is likely that infant energy needs can be met for 6 months, and possibly longer, by women wishing to breastfeed exclusively this long. The major shortcoming appears to be the marked attrition rates in exclusive breastfeeding, even among women who seem to be highly motivated and who have presumably good support networks. There is a major gap in our understanding of the role - and the relative positive or negative contribution – of biological and social determinants of observed attrition rates.

3.1.3 Summary

Energy requirements derived from the sum of total energy expenditure and energy deposition were used to evaluate the adequacy of human milk to support the energy needs of exclusively breastfed infants. Energy intakes based on the mean milk intakes of exclusively breastfed infants appear to meet mean energy requirements during the first 6 months of life. Since infant growth potential drives milk production, it is likely that the distribution of energy intakes matches the distribution of energy requirements. Women who

Table 5. Energy requirements of breastfed Infants

	Weight (kg)¤	Weight velocity (g/day)ª	Total energy expenditure (kcal _{th} /day) ^b	Energy deposition (kcal _{th} /day) ^c	Energy requirement (kcal _{th} /day)
Boys					
1	4.58	35.2	273	211	485
2	5.50	30.4	359	183	541
3	6.28	23.2	431	139	570
4	6.94	19.1	492	53	546
5	7.48	16.1	542	45	588
6	7.93	12.8	584	36	620
7	8.3	11	619	17	635
8	8.62	10.4	648	16	664
9	8.89	9	673	14	687
10	9.13	7.9	696	21	717
11	9.37	7.7	718	21	739
12	9.62	8.2	741	22	763
Girls					
1	4.35	28.3	252	178	430
2	5.14	25.5	325	161	486
3	5.82	21.2	388	134	522
4	6.41	18.4	443	68	511
5	6.92	15.5	490	57	548
6	7.35	12.8	530	47	578
7	7.71	11	564	20	584
8	8.03	9.2	593	17	610
9	8.31	8.4	619	15	635
10	8.55	7.7	642	18	660
11	8.73	6.6	663	15	678
12	9	6.3	684	14	698

a Reference 8.

wish to breastfeed exclusively can meet their infants' energy needs for 6 months.

3.2 Proteins

3.2.1 Dietary proteins

Dietary proteins provide approximately 8% of the exclusively breastfed infant's energy requirements and the essential amino acids necessary for protein synthesis. Thus, the quantity and quality of proteins are both important. Because protein may serve as a source of energy, failure to meet energy needs decreases the efficiency of protein utilization for tissue accretion and other metabolic functions. Protein undernutrition produces long-term negative effects on growth and neurodevelopment.

3.2.2 Protein composition of human milk

The protein content of mature human milk is approximately 8–10 g/l (33). The concentration of protein changes as lactation progresses. By the second week postpartum, when the transition from colostrum to mature milk is nearly complete, the concentration of protein is approximately 12.7 g/l (40). This value drops to 9 g/l by the second month, and to 8 g/l by the fourth month where it appears to remain until well into the weaning process when milk volumes fall substantially. At this point protein concentrations increase as involution of the mammary gland progresses. The interindividual variation of the protein content of human milk, whose basis is unknown (41), is approximately 15%.

Several methods have been used to analyse the protein content of human milk and each has yielded different results with implications for the physiology and

^b Reference 36.

^{&#}x27; Reference *37*.

nutrition of the breastfed infant (42). Direct analyses include the determination of total nitrogen by the Kjeldahl method and total amino-acid analysis. To derive the protein nitrogen content by the Kjeldahl method, the NPN fraction is separated by acid precipitation. Indirect analyses based on the protein molecule's characteristics include the Biuret method (peptide bond), Coomassie-Blue/BioRad, BCA method (dye-binding sites) and the Lowry method (tyrosine and phenylalanine content). The Biuret method, whose results conflict with the BCA method, is not recommended for use in human milk because of high background interference. The Lowry method, although efficient, is subject to technical difficulties (e.g. spectrophotometric interference by lipids and cells, differential reaction of proteins in human milk with the colour reagent, and appropriate protein standard representative of complex, changing mixture). The protein content of mature human milk is approximately 9 g/l by the Kjeldahl method (33), and approximately 12–14 g/l by the Lowry and BCA methods (43, 23, 44). The 25% higher values obtained by the Lowry method have been attributed to using bovine serum albumin (BSA), which has fewer aromatic amino acids than human milk, as the standard. As a result, some investigators have adjusted milk-protein concentrations determined by the Lowry method (45).

Although it is known that the stage of lactation influences the content and relative amounts of protein in human milk, the physiological mechanisms that regulate their levels have not been identified nor has the role of diet been well defined. Based on field studies, human milk's total protein concentration does not appear to differ among populations at distinct levels of nutritional risk. However, difficulties arise in interpreting published data because total protein content often has been estimated from measurements of total nitrogen. This presents problems because in well-nourished populations approximately 25% of nitrogen is not bound to protein. However, in contrast to conclusions reached in field studies, when dietary protein was increased from 8 to 20% of energy consumption in metabolically controlled studies, protein N concentrations increased by approximately 8%, and 24-hour outputs of protein N increased by approximately 21%, in the milk of well-nourished women (46).

Extrapolation from metabolically controlled studies to free-living subjects requires caution. Results from field studies may reflect chronic adaptations; those from shorter-term laboratory studies may represent acute responses to dietary change. There also is a lack of consensus in the literature as to whether low-protein diets result in reduced milk volumes, and therefore in reduced protein outputs (47, 46, 48). Longer-term studies are needed in diverse populations to help resolve these gaps in knowledge.

3.2.3 Total nitrogen content of human milk

Human milk's total nitrogen content, which appears to depend on the stage of lactation and dietary intakes, ranges from 1700 to 3700 mg/l. Eighteen to 30% of the total nitrogen in milk is non-protein nitrogen (NPN). Approximately 30% of NPN are amino acids (5, 49) and thus should be fully available to the infant. As much as 50% of NPN may be bound to urea (5, 49) and the remaining approximately 20% is found in a wide range of compounds such as nitrogen-containing carbohydrates, choline, nucleotides and creatinine (50). Changes in the relative composition of non-protein nitrogen, as lactation progresses, are not well described. From the limited information available, NPN appears to decrease by approximately 30% over the first 3 months of lactation (51). If this nitrogen fraction behaves similarly to protein, it should remain stable thereafter until possibly weaning is well under way.

3.2.4 Approaches used to estimate protein requirements

Several approaches have been used to estimate protein requirements for infants and children. At present the protein intake of breastfed infants from 0 to 6 months of age is considered the standard for reasons reviewed by the 1994 IDECG report on protein and energy requirements (5). However, two other approaches also have been used to assess the protein requirements of infants – balance methods and factorial estimations.

The 1985 FAO/WHO/UNU Report on Energy and Protein Requirements (52) states the rationale for using the protein intakes of exclusively breastfed infants from 0 to 6 months of age to estimate requirements: "The protein needs of an infant will be met if its energy needs are met and the food providing the energy contains protein in quantity and quality equivalent to that of breast milk." This assumes that decreases in the protein content of human milk are synchronous with decreases in energy requirements expressed per kg of body weight from 0 to 6 months of age, and that the apparently high efficiency of protein utilization in early infancy is sustained at and beyond 6 months of age. There is no scientific evidence that seriously questions these assumptions in relation to utilization efficiency (see

Table 6. Efficiency of protein utilization: growth and body composition of breastfed infants and infants consuming infant formula with varying protein concentrations

Reference	N	Age (months)	Type of feeding	Growth	LBM	Efficiency of protein utilization
Butte & Garza (<i>58</i>)	40	0–4	BF	60th percentile W/L		
Heinig et al. (45)	71	3–12	BFa	Similar to FF	Higher in FF	Higher in BF
	46	FF				
Motil et al. (231)	10	1.5–6	BF	60 pct	Similar to FF	Similar to FF
	10		FF	Similar to FF		
Salmenperä et al. (61)	202	4–12	BF			
•			FF			
Åkeson et al. (<i>62</i>)	27 ^b	6	BF	Similar among		
	10		FF-13	groups		
	9		FF-15	• .		
	8		FF-18			
Nielsen et al. (<i>232</i>)	339	10	BF> 7 months	13.7 g/day		
			BF< 7 months	12.5 g/day		
Butte et al. (20)	15	4	BF	Drop growth		
	15	6		velocity		
Dewey et al. (<i>63</i>)	50	5–6	BF	Similar weight		
• •	91		Partial BF	and length gain		

Abbreviations:

W/L: weight-for-length percentile of the NCHS reference, 1977

LBM: lean body mass BF: breastfed FF: formula-fed

Table 6), but changes in energy and protein requirements for growth do not appear to be proportionately synchronous. Evolutionary arguments presented for or against the adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding are equally unconvincing because of their basic teleological character. As will be evident below, the absence of sounder physiological data makes the use of human milk intakes during this age interval the best available choice.

The 1996 IDECG report on energy and protein requirements (5) reviewed the flaws in the 1985 FAO/WHO/UNU protein requirement estimates for infants (52). These are the assumption that at 1 month of lactation protein concentrations in milk are sustained (indeed, as discussed above, they fall); possible underestimation of milk-intake volumes (because some investigators decided not to measure insensible water

losses when milk intakes are determined by testweighing techniques, although this probably represents a trivial source of error); and failures to account for either the non-protein component of human milk or the possible under-utilization of some of the milk's protein constituents because of their resistance to digestion. The following reasons are posited for these inaccurate estimates.

Discomfort with reliance on intake data collected mostly under "opportunistic" situations has led to comparing estimates based on ad libitum intakes with nitrogen balance data, and "armchair estimates" based on the factorial approach. Of the two bases for comparisons, balance data are less satisfactory. Many of the difficulties with balance data arise because often they have been obtained from undernourished infants during repletion, or from premature infants. In either case these infants'

^a Breastfeeding and solids after 6 months.

^b Sample size varies because breastfed infants were changed to formula.

physiological condition renders difficult extrapolation to healthy term infants. Moreover, the complexities imposed by relationships between energy intake and efficiencies of protein utilization, and by differences in utilization efficiencies due to the varying biological values and amounts of proteins fed in balance studies, significantly lessen the value of balance results for the purpose of directly estimating protein requirements for healthy term infants.

Thus, the factorial approach, which requires estimating maintenance needs, protein accreted during growth and efficiency of utilization, appears more attractive than balance methods. Maintenance needs are based on obligatory losses and the progressive loss of efficiency in protein utilization as levels of protein increase. Utilization efficiency is believed to be maximal below requirement levels and to become progressively less efficient as requirement levels are approached and surpassed.

The 1996 IDECG report used results from multiple studies to estimate maintenance needs (5). This estimate was calculated by extrapolating relationships between nitrogen intake and retention to a y intercept of 10 mg N/kg per day to account for integumental losses, and by adjusting relationships between intake and retention to an assumed slope of 0.73. In the report the maintenance requirement was estimated to be 90 mg N/kg per day. An alternative approach, which requires fewer assumptions and less manipulation of experimental data, is the use of basal metabolism to estimate obligatory losses (53). Although this approach was abandoned in the 1985 report because of inconsistent ratios across several ages, it appears reasonably consistent in the age range of interest, i.e. the range of values in published studies of children 4 to 15 months of age is 1.2 to 1.5 mg N per "basal" kcal_{th} (53). For 1- and 4-month-old exclusively breastfed infants, minimal observable energy expenditure rates are approximately 45 kcal_{th}/kg per day (54). If one uses 1.5 mg N per "basal" kcal_{th} as a conservative estimate, obligatory losses are 68 mg N/kg per day and extrapolations of this value to 6 or 8 months present no substantial problems since major changes in basal metabolism are not anticipated at these ages. The mean protein gain between 4 and 8 months of age for exclusively breastfed infants is 0.24 g protein/kg of body weight/day or 38 mg N/kg per day. The sum of nitrogen needs for maintenance and growth is 106 mg N/kg per day.

However, this sum must be corrected for the absorption rate of human-milk proteins and the rate of protein

utilization for growth in the intake range of interest. Most studies that have examined the absorption of human-milk nitrogen and specific human milk-protein components have been preformed among premature infants (55, 56). In examining this issue, Donovan et al. (55) reported apparent absorption rates of 85%, which confirmed earlier data published by Schanler et al. (56). These rates of absorption are remarkably similar to those summarized by Fomon (57) for infants fed various types of cow's milk-based formulas. These estimates all include losses of both dietary and endogenous nitrogen, thus available data likely underestimate "true" dietary absorption rates. If we nevertheless accept the value for purposes of estimating dietary N requirements, the figure adjusted for absorption is 125 mg N/kg per day.

Taking this "conservative" approach, however, is not as unbalanced as it may first appear. The absorption of human milk's immunological components has been a major concern because of their functional role and putative resistance to digestion. Studies examining this issue also have been performed principally in preterm infants (55, 56). Analyses by Donovan et al. (55) for specific components suggested a maximum absorption rate of 75% for SIgA and 91% for lactoferrin. The apparent absorption rates for lactoferrin reported by these investigators agree with the earlier studies published by Schanler et al. (56). However, the SIgA values in the two studies are quite different. Schanler et al. (56) reported total apparent SIgA absorption rates of 91% compared to the mean of 75% by Donovan et al. (55). This disparity likely reflects the different analytical methods used for measuring SIgA.

The estimated requirement for efficiency of utilization must also be corrected. Once again, the best data have been published from studies of premature infants. If we accept the efficiency of utilization of 0.73 adopted by the IDECG group, the N needs of infants in this age range are approximately 171 mg N/kg per day.

This estimate compares well with the mean protein N intakes reported by Butte et al. (16) for breastfed infants at 1 and 2 months of age. By 3 months of age the sum of the mean protein N intake and 30% of the mean NPN (assuming that this fraction consists of free amino acids) is 178 mg. By 4 months of age this sum is 161 mg N/kg, still reasonably close to the mean estimated requirement.

This leaves us with the remainder of the NPN unaccounted for in terms of its potential utilization. Rates of NPN utilization vary greatly from approximately 10% to almost 50% (5). Given the very incomplete know-

Table 7. Protein intake of breastfed and formula-fed infants

Reference	N	Type of feeding								
			1	2	3	4	6	9	12	Growth
Butte & Garza (<i>58</i>)	40	BF	1.6 ± 0.3	1.1 ± 0.2	1.0 ± 0.2	$\textbf{0.9} \pm \textbf{0.2}$				60th percentile W/L
Heinig et al. (45)	71	BF			$\boldsymbol{1.09 \pm 0.2}$		1.06 ± 0.3	$\textbf{1.67} \pm \textbf{0.89}$	$\textbf{2.45} \pm \textbf{1.1}$	Similar
	46	FF			$\textbf{1.81} \pm \textbf{0.3}$		$\textbf{1.76} \pm \textbf{0.3}$	$\pmb{2.03 \pm 0.4}$	$\textbf{2.48} \pm \textbf{0.6}$	
Motil et al. (231) ^a	10	BF	$\textbf{22}\pm\textbf{3}$		14 ± 2	12 ± 3				Similar
	10	FF	$\textbf{29} \pm \textbf{5}$		$\textbf{25} \pm \textbf{6}$	$\textbf{27} \pm \textbf{10}$				
Åkeson et al. (<i>62</i>)	27 ^b	BF					1.39 ± 0.2	1.67 ± 0.9	2.45 ± 1.1	Similar
	10	FF-13					$\textbf{1.87} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	2.01 ± 0.3	$\textbf{2.48} \pm \textbf{0.4}$	
	9	FF-15					$\pmb{2.0 \pm 0.2}$	$\pmb{2.18 \pm 0.4}$	$\pmb{2.63 \pm 0.5}$	
	8	FF-18					$\textbf{2.3} \pm \textbf{0.2}$	$\textbf{2.32} \pm \textbf{0.5}$	$\textbf{2.73} \pm \textbf{0.3}$	
Butte et al. (<i>20</i>)	15	BF				1.2 ± 0.3				Drop growth
	15						1.1 ± 0.3			velocity
Dewey et al. (<i>63</i>) ^c	50	BF					0.98 ± 0.2			Similar
	91	Partial					$\boldsymbol{1.18 \pm 0.2}$			
		BF								

Abbreviations:

BF: breastfed

FF: Formula-fed

W/L: weight-for-length percentile of the NCHS reference, 1977

ledge of factors that account for this five-fold range in utilization rates and the variability of this component in human milk, the presumption of its use and significance to infant nutrition appears tenuous. The decision was thus taken not to include it further in the above calculations.

It is possible to estimate the prevalence of inadequacy from these data using the probability approach that was taken in the 1996 IDECG report. A requirement of approximately 170 mg N/kg, which is close to the report's "Model C", yielded a population inadequacy prevalence of approximately 8%.

3.2.5 Protein intake and growth

Butte et al. examined the adequacy of protein intake from human milk by determining protein intakes and growth of exclusively breastfed infants from middle to upper economic groups in Houston, TX (16, 58). Protein intake was 1.6 ± 0.3 g/kg per day at 1 month and 0.9 ± 0.2 g/kg per day at 4 months of age. The mean

Z-scores of these infants' weights and lengths were consistently greater than zero (based on the WHO pooled breastfed data set) (Table 7) until the fourth month when the mean declined to slightly below zero. Later, Heinig et al. (45) evaluated a sample of breastfed infants from 0 to 12 months of age enrolled in the DARLING Study. Protein intakes of breastfed infants at 3 months were comparable to those reported by Butte et al. $(1.1 \pm 0.22 \text{ g/kg per day})$, and they remained at approximately $1.1 \pm 0.3 \text{ g/kg}$ per day through 6 months of exclusive breastfeeding. Weight-for-age Z-scores were between 0.5 and 0 for the first 6 months of life (59).

Two other studies, also conducted in developed countries, reported that after the first 2 to 3 months breastfed infants gained weight less rapidly than formula-fed infants (60, 61). In both studies infants were not exclusively breastfed and there was a significant drop (17.5 to 45%) in sample size over time. The unstable anthropometric Z-scores in both studies are thus difficult to evaluate.

^a Proteins are in mmol/kg per day.

^b Sample size varies because breastfed infants were changed to formula.

^c Breastfeeding and solids after 6 months.

Similarly, results from developing countries are inconsistent. Although protein intakes of exclusively breastfed Mexican infants were comparable to those of American infants (1.2 ± 0.3 g protein per kg/day at 4 months and 1.1 ± 0.3 g/kg per day at 6 months), their weight and length velocities were significantly lower than those observed in American infants by 6 months of age (20). Weight velocity declined from 16.1 ± 3.2 g/day at 4 months (Z = approximately 0.2, using boys) to 8 ± 3.5 g/day (Z = approximately -1.25, using boys) at 6 months, and length velocities from 1.92 ± 0.22 cm/month (Z = -0.25, using boys) to 1.02 ± 0.34 cm/month (Z = -0.75, using boys) (20).

In contrast, a sample in Honduras of exclusively breastfed infants were assigned randomly at 4 months either to continue exclusive breastfeeding until 6 months or to receive a high-protein complementary food from 4 to 6 months. After 4 months of age, the mean protein intake (g/kg per day) in the group of infants who received solid food was 20% higher than that of the exclusively breastfed group. Despite these differences in protein intake, no differences from 4 to 6 months in weight or length gain were noted between feeding groups. Furthermore, 20 infants with the highest protein intakes were matched to 20 exclusively breastfed infants with similar energy intakes. Although protein intake was 33% higher in the non-exclusively breastfed group, growth rates were similar (5). These negative findings should be interpreted cautiously because of the precision of the balances used (accurate to 100 g) relative to the changes in weight observed between 4 and 6 months; and because earlier findings by the same group documented a positive correlation between weight gain and protein intake (39) when intakes and weight gain of both breast- and bottle-fed infants were examined but no such correlation when only breastfed infants were considered.

In an experimental study (62), the growth of infants after 6 months receiving formulas with varying protein concentrations (13, 15 and 18 g/l) was compared to the growth of exclusively breastfed infants from 0 to 6 months. Breastfed infants from the DARLING Study were used as the comparison group (59). Although energy intakes were similar in all groups, protein intakes were significantly lower at 6 months of age in the breastfed group compared with those of the three formula-fed groups. Increments in weight and length between 4 and 8 months were similar in the formula-fed and breastfed groups (62).

It thus appears that human milk meets the protein needs for growth of infants between 0 and 6 months. There

are no data to evaluate the protein adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding at later ages (45, 62), and one may well ask whether any of the published studies have sufficient power to detect physiologically relevant differences in growth. However, the formula study described above suggests that protein should not be the limiting factor.

Some concerns may be raised by the seemingly conflicting data of Butte et al. from Mexico (20) and Dewey et al. from Honduras (63). Each of the reports is based on infants from low socioeconomic status settings. Data from Butte et al. may reflect the insufficiency of exclusive or predominant breastfeeding for sustaining normal growth rates in harsh settings. On the other hand, data from Dewey et al. may reflect the reality that, under the circumstances, exclusive breastfeeding is "as good as" what is achievable in terms of growth. However, the period over which weight gain is calculated may influence this conclusion. Dewey et al. (63) reported a weight gain of 1017 g – or the equivalent of approximately 14.5 g/day - in the exclusively breastfed group, and 1004 g, or 14.3 g/day, in the supplemented breastfed group between 16 and 26 weeks of age. Although weight gains over the entire period were not discernibly different between groups, weekly weight gains cannot be calculated or assessed. In contrast Butte et al. evaluated specific weight gains (16.7, 12.3 and 7.8 g/day at 4, 5 and 6 months, respectively) and noted a downward trend in predominantly breastfed infants (20).

3.2.6 Plasma amino acids

Postprandial concentrations of plasma amino acids also have been used as an index of the adequacy of protein intakes (64). We were unable to find any data evaluating changes in plasma amino-acid patterns in exclusively versus partially breastfed infants during the first year of life.

3.2.7 Immune function

Protein undernutrition adversely affects immune function. Protein-deficient infants present impaired immune responses that, in turn, increase their risk of infectious episodes (65).

Two papers have been published regarding the association between protein intake and immune function in breastfed infants. In one study infants were classified at birth as breastfed or formula-fed according to maternal choice (66). Formula-fed infants were assigned randomly to either a low- or high-soy protein formula,

or to a cow's milk-based formula adapted to European Society of Paediatric Gastroenterology (ESPGAN) recommendations (i.e. a whey:casein ratio of 50:50). Infants received the polio immunization and the triple vaccine against diphtheria, pertussis and tetanus (DPT) at 2 and 4 months of age. Blood antibodies were analysed at 5 and 8 months. Results were consistent with those reported in the previous study, i.e. infants fed on the low-protein cow's milk- and soy-based formulas presented poorer antibody responses than did infants who received the high-protein cow's milk-based formula. Infants consuming the adapted formula had a higher initial antibody response, which was not sustained. Five-month-old exclusively breastfed infants presented sustained antibody responses that were similar to those of the high-protein group (66). In another study, breastfed infants from Sweden presented significantly higher faecal titres of both IgA and IgM antibodies, as well as the secretory component to poliovirus and diphtheria and to tetanus toxoid than did infants receiving a formula with 1.1 or 1.5 g protein per 100 ml (67).

The interpretation of the functional significance of these observations remains difficult without robust comparisons of morbidity in exclusively, predominantly and partially breastfed infants 4 to 12 months old in diverse settings.

3.2.8 Infant behaviour

Several authors have reported better cognitive development and intelligence quotients in breastfed infants compared with those who are formula-fed (68, 69). A review by Pollitt et al. (70) amply demonstrates the complexities related to this issue and the difficulties presented by available studies because of their inability to distinguish among competing hypotheses. No studies were found that assess the behavioural outcomes of feeding healthy term infants diverse levels of protein during the first year of life.

3.2.9 Summary

Based on factorial and balance studies, infants' mean protein requirements are approximately 1.1 g/kg per day from 3 to 6 months of age. "True protein" provided by human milk is sufficient to meet the mean protein requirements of infants for the first 2 months of life, and "true protein" intake plus free amino acids and other forms of NPN are likely sufficient to meet the needs of most, though not all, infants after 4 months. A more precise estimate of the proportion of infants whose needs

are met at all ages requires improved understanding of the efficiency of human milk nitrogen utilization (both protein and NPN), improved methods for estimating obligatory needs and better functional measures of nitrogen adequacy.

3.3 Vitamin A

3.3.1 Introduction

Vitamin A is a generic term for a group of retinoids with similar biological activity. The term includes retinal, retinol, retinoic acid and substances considered to be pro-vitamin A because they can be transformed into retinol. Among the pro-vitamin A compounds, β -carotene has the highest potential vitamin A activity. Recent recommendations by the United States Food and Nutrition Board re-evaluated conversion equivalency and recommended use of 1/12 retinol equivalents (RE) from a mixed diet.

Retinols are stored in the liver as esters, and storage increases in the fetal liver during late gestation. The placenta regulates the passage of a sufficient amount of vitamin A from mother to fetus to meet physiological requirements but not to build up a substantial body reserve. This tight regulation is believed to result in low hepatic reserves of vitamin A at birth, even in infants born to well-nourished mothers, compared to levels achieved in later life stages (71, 72). After birth, vitamin A is transferred to the infant through human milk.

The vitamin A content of human milk depends on maternal vitamin A status. Infants of women with inadequate vitamin A status are born with low reserves of vitamin A, and thus their vitamin A status is likely to be protected for shorter periods than the status of infants born with higher reserves. Since most vitamin A for tissue reserves is transferred late in gestation, preterm infants have lower stores than full-term infants. In populations that are at risk of vitamin A deficiency, the age at which a deficiency occurs is related to the age of weaning, i.e. the shorter the duration of breastfeeding, the earlier the onset of deficiency (73). This is likely due to the combined effect of the consumption of complementary foods that are low in vitamin A and higher vitamin A utilization rates imposed by more frequent infections.

3.3.2 Vitamin A in human milk

The mature milk of well-nourished mothers contains approximately 1.7 moles/l vitamin A (6). In addition,

human milk contains carotene that may contribute to the vitamin A transferred to the infant (57) and bile salt-stimulated lipase, which facilitates the infant's absorption of vitamin A and precursor carotenoids (74).

Because the vitamin A content of human milk is strongly influenced by maternal nutritional status, it is not surprising to find lower amounts of vitamin A in human milk in regions were undernutrition is widespread and mothers consume vitamin A-containing foods less frequently than women in privileged environments. Consequently, the concentration of vitamin A in mature milk of women in underprivileged countries may be extremely low. For example, Muhilal et al. (75) reported baseline values of 0.60 \pm 0.29 moles/ l in studies conducted in Indonesia.

Vitamin A concentrations vary with the stage of lactation. In a cross-sectional study in Guatemala, vitamin A concentrations in milk of low-income women decreased from 1.40 μ moles/l at 6 months of lactation to 1.33 and 1.26 μ moles/l at 9 and 15 months, respectively (76). In the Philippines concentrations decreased from 1.26 μ moles/l at 3 months to 0.88 μ moles/l at 9 months of lactation (76). Similarly, lactating Ethiopian mothers presented vitamin A concentrations of 1.16 \pm 0.52 μ moles/l at 1.5–3.5 months of lactation, and 0.74 \pm 0.25 μ moles/l at 11.5–23.5 months of lactation (77).

According to Stoltzfus & Underwood (73), the best evidence that vitamin A levels in human milk correspond to maternal vitamin A status is the improved concentrations in milk after maternal supplementation in areas where vitamin A deficiency is endemic (75, 78–80).

3.3.3 Estimates of vitamin A requirements

The vitamin A requirements of infants are difficult to estimate accurately because of the lack of a sensitive index of vitamin A status. Plasma retinol levels are insensitive to the adequacy of intake until hepatic stores are severely depleted. Other methods that have been considered to assess vitamin A status include adaptation to darkness, the pupillary response test, total liver reserves by isotope dilution, relative dose response/modified relative dose response, conjunctival impression cytology and immune function (6). However, none of these methods is completely suitable for assessing the vitamin A requirements of infants.

Intestinal absorption is among the dietary factors that influence vitamin A requirements. In turn, dietary fat, infections, the food matrix and food processing all affect intestinal absorption (6). However, none of these factors

is relevant for breastfed infants since the bioavailability of preformed vitamin A from human milk is likely to be greater than 90%, and breastfed infants are protected against infection, particularly gastrointestinal infections. The potential vitamin A activity of vitamin A precursors in human milk is not known. Thus, in children younger than 1 year, retinoid requirements have been based on the estimated intakes of this vitamin by breastfed infants (6). However, the dependence on maternal diets of human milk vitamin A levels makes accurate estimates of requirements difficult to calculate from milk composition data alone.

The recommended vitamin A intake level for infants 0 to 6 months was set at 1.4 µmoles/day and 1.75 µmoles/day for infants 6 to 12 months based on the intakes of breastfed infants of well-nourished women (6). A deficiency state has been defined as stores that are insufficient to maintain optimal vitamin A concentrations in target tissues. This is generally observed when body stores fall below 0.07 moles/g liver (81). Serum retinol levels and the relative dose-response test have been used to assess hepatic vitamin A stores, but other functional measures of vitamin A status, e.g. ocular manifestations, are used more often in practice. Less specific measures of vitamin A status such as growth retardation, increased susceptibility to infections and greater mortality risk are also occasionally used (82, 83).

3.3.4 Plasma retinol

Serum retinol levels in individuals are tightly regulated; for the reasons outlined above, however, they are indicative of vitamin A status in individuals only when body reserves are depleted or surpassed. Fortunately, serum vitamin A distribution curves and population dietary intake patterns can be used to assess and compare the vitamin A status of populations (83). However, interpretation of serum retinol levels can be confounded by stress, which reduces levels on an acute basis, resulting in abnormally high prevalence rates of poor vitamin A status.

At birth, serum vitamin A concentrations in term infants of well-nourished mothers are approximately 0.70 μ moles/l or greater (84, 85). In contrast, serum vitamin A levels of infants born to mothers with marginal vitamin A status are reported at approximately 0.49 μ moles/l (86). In Indonesia more infants whose mothers had vitamin A concentrations below 1.4 μ mol/l in their milk had evidence of depleted liver stores and had lower serum retinol concentrations than did infants whose mothers' vitamin A milk concentrations were above this value (80).

WHO and UNICEF use a mean population value of 0.7 µmol/l to identify subclinical vitamin A deficiency in populations, but they caution that this value may not identify deficient individuals (87). None the less, this value is commonly used to describe the status of both populations and individuals and to characterize responses to interventions designed to improve vitamin A status. For example, the mean serum retinol levels of 6-month-old exclusively breastfed Bangladeshi infants was $0.77 \pm 0.21 \,\mu\text{mol/l}$. Thirty-four per cent presented levels below the 0.70 µmol/l cut-off (88). Serum levels were $0.84 \pm 0.23 \,\mu\text{mol/l}$ (89) in a similar group of infants whose mothers were supplemented postnatally with vitamin A, but 25% of the infants in this group were reported to have serum values below 0.7 µmol/l. The vitamin A content of human milk in these populations was $0.87 \pm 0.61 \,\mu\text{mol/l}$ in unsupplemented women and $0.85 \pm 0.53 \, \mu \text{mol/l}$ in women supplemented with vitamin A.

A mean serum retinol concentration of 0.67 µmol/l was reported in 1.5-month-old infants in a multicentre trial conducted in Ghana, India and Peru. Levels below 0.70 µmol/l were reported for 63% of those infants (90). The administration of 25 000 IU of vitamin A with each of the first three doses of DPT/poliomyelitis immunizations resulted in mean serum vitamin A levels of 0.84 µmol/ l in these groups at 6 months of age, and the percentage of infants with retinol levels below 0.70 µmol/l decreased to 30% by 6 months. However, the average retinol concentration 0.80 µmol/l and the percentage of infants with retinol levels below 0.7 μmol/l also dropped (37%) in the placebo group included in that trial (90). Of 339 infants 77% had abnormal relative dose response tests at 1.5 months of age. The percentages with abnormal tests declined to 43%, 38% and 28% at, respectively, 6, 9 and 12 months following the administration of vitamin A. Parallel declines were observed in the placebo group (90). The relative vitamin A concentrations in milk were similar for both the treatment and placebo groups.

3.3.5 Functional end-points

Growth and vitamin status

Associations between linear growth retardation and vitamin A deficiency have been found in some, but not all, studies. In a community-based study conducted in Indonesia, 466 children were identified as vitamin A-deficient (presence of night blindness, Bitot's spots or xerophthalmia). Age-specific paired comparisons showed a lower height-for-age, weight-for-height, mid-

upper arm circumference and triceps skin-fold in children under 3 years of age with xerophthalmia than in controls. Vitamin A-deficient children consumed almost half the amount of vitamin A-containing foods (dark-green leafy vegetables and milk) than controls (91). In another study, also conducted in Indonesia by the same group, children who spontaneously recovered from xerophthalmia were compared to a group of children who did not recover spontaneously and to a group of healthy children. Weight and height were evaluated at 3-month intervals. Infants who recovered spontaneously gained weight at the same rate as healthy infants, but their height deficits persisted. Infants who did not recover, and those who became xerophthalmic during the follow-up period, presented the greatest weight and height deficits (92). Although such descriptive data are interesting, they are difficult to interpret because it is likely that all subjects suffered from multiple nutrient deficiencies.

However, intervention trials that examined the effect of vitamin A intake on growth also present difficulties,. In a randomized, placebo-controlled study conducted in India, supplementing infants for 1 year with weekly doses of 2500 µg (8.8 moles) vitamin A and 20 mg vitamin E failed to improve growth (93). This occurred despite a higher mortality rate in the placebo group, suggesting a beneficial effect of vitamin A supplementation. Failure to see a growth response suggests that either the level of vitamin A provided was insufficient to achieve normal growth or other nutrient levels were more limiting with respect to growth. In another randomized study conducted in Indonesia, children received 60 000 µg (210 moles) retinol or a placebo on two occasions within 1 year. Supplementation improved weight gain only in males 24 to 60 months of age and had no effect in males or females younger than 24 months (94). Similarly, in another Indonesian trial, commercial monosodium glutamate was fortified with vitamin A. Fortification resulted in improved linear growth, but this time only in children 12 to 24 months old (75).

A more recent trial by the same group in Indonesia controlled for baseline vitamin A status. Children were supplemented randomly with vitamin A (103 000 to 206 000 IU, according to age) or a placebo. Results were adjusted by the children's pre-treatment vitamin A status. An improvement in linear growth (0.16 cm), but not in weight, was observed after supplementation in children older than 24 months. After adjusting for pre-treatment vitamin A status, supplemented children with serum retinol < 0.35 μ mol/l at baseline grew 0.39 cm and gained 152 g more weight in a period of

16 weeks than children in the placebo group. Weight and height gains were not different between treatment groups in children with retinol concentrations above 0.35 μ mol/l (95). Levels of vitamin A in human milk for the various groups were not reported.

Thus, an effect of supplementation with vitamin A on growth may be observed in a group of children with a high likelihood of deficiency, but apparently not in infants, i.e. 0 to 12 months of age. The above-mentioned multicentre randomized and placebo-controlled study conducted in Ghana, India and Peru followed infants until 12 months of age. No difference in weight and length gain or Z-scores was observed between supplemented and placebo groups despite the high percentage of infants with vitamin A deficiency as determined by serum retinol and relative dose response (90). Thus, it is possible that factors other than vitamin A status are more sensitive determinants of growth in infants in this age group. Indeed, in a study conducted in Egypt, the growth of sick and healthy infants was compared after supplementing their mothers with vitamin A. Milk retinol levels correlated significantly with the growth of healthy infants, but not with those who were ill (96).

Ocular manifestations

In Malawi 152 children with xerophthalmia were compared to 151 age-matched children without visual manifestations of vitamin A deficiency. Weaning was initiated and breastfeeding stopped significantly earlier for children with xerophthalmia than for healthy children (97). However, in another study conducted in Indonesia more than 90% of the children, with or without xerophthalmia, were breastfed for at least 12 months, and the duration of breastfeeding was similar between infants with xerophthalmia and controls. Although the age of introduction of solid foods was not investigated, infants with xerophthalmia received significantly less vitamin A-rich foods than did controls. This suggests that in some settings the quality of complementary foods plays as important a role as the duration of breastfeeding (91).

Morbidity and mortality

High morbidity and mortality rates due to infectious diseases are associated with clinical and subclinical vitamin A deficiency. Moreover, it has been reported that during infectious episodes vitamin A is excreted in urine at higher levels than usual (98). Thus, the risk of increased frequency and severity of infections is

greater in vitamin A-deficient infants and their requirements for vitamin A are higher.

Evidence for these associations comes from different types of studies. For example, in South Africa 10-monthold infants hospitalized with complicated measles and supplemented with a single dose of 400 000 IU vitamin A recovered more rapidly from pneumonia and diarrhoea than the placebo group (99). In Bangladesh, infants of vitamin A-supplemented mothers had significantly shorter episodes of respiratory tract infections and fewer febrile episodes in the first 9 months postpartum than infants of unsupplemented mothers (79). In contrast, after controlling for age and nutritional status, smaller but frequent doses of vitamin A supplements provided Indian infants 6 to 60 months of age (2500 µg weekly) had no effect on the incidence, severity or duration of diarrhoea or respiratory tract infections (93). Similarly, in the above-mentioned multicentre study conducted in Ghana, India and Peru no differences in the prevalence of diarrhoea and acute lower-respiratory infections were noted between placebo and supplemented groups (90). In Indonesia, a placebocontrolled trial was conducted in 2067 neonates who received either 50 000 IU vitamin A orally or a placebo on the first day of life. The vitamin A supplement reduced the infant mortality rate and the prevalence of severe respiratory infection (100). Vitamin A supplementation at birth reduced the risk of pneumococcal colonization in South Indian infants (101).

The effect of vitamin A supplementation on mortality rates is also somewhat inconsistent. A recent review by Villamoor & Fawzi (102) summarized various issues related to vitamin A sufficiency. The authors reviewed the inconsistent results of community-based trials targeting infants older and younger than 6 months. Although supplementation of deficient populations generally appears to decrease mortality, this outcome has not always been observed. The inconsistency in results is ascribed to multiple factors that include interactions among multiple but variable nutrient deficiencies, other population-specific characteristics, and magnitude and frequency of supplementation (102).

Mortality risks have been reported to be 30–60% higher in children with keratomalacia and xerophthalmia than in healthy populations (103). Most studies have reported reductions in mortality rates in preschool children after vitamin A supplementation (99, 75, 104, 103). However, other supplementation studies have failed to observe protective effects (105, 106). Two meta-analyses that included the above-cited studies

concluded that supplementation reduced mortality in preschool children (107, 108). However, more recent studies failed to observe similar protective effects. In Nepal, differences in mortality rates were not noted in infants, from 0–5 months of age, who received a single dose of 15 000 to 30 000 IU of vitamin A or a placebo (109). Cumulative morbidity and mortality rates were similar between supplemented and placebo groups from 1 to 12 months of age in the Ghanaian, Indian and Peruvian multicentre trial (90).

Studies of this type suggest several possibilities. Either present cut-offs used to assess vitamin A adequacy should not be used as proxies for increased risk of morbidity and mortality in all infants; or inadequate vitamin A status of young infants in some study populations is not a major risk to increased morbidity or mortality; or inadequate vitamin A status acts in concert with other factors in a way that requires their simultaneous correction before expected benefits can be achieved.

3.3.6 Summary

The absence of any evidence of vitamin A deficiency in well-nourished populations suggests that the vitamin A content of human milk is adequate to meet the vitamin A requirements for infants during the first 6 months of life when mothers are well nourished. However, it is important to recall that there are no population assessments of the vitamin A status of exclusively breastfed infants beyond this age. Human milk is the primary source of vitamin A in environments where vitamin A deficiency is prevalent, and in these settings the population of breastfed infants with deficient or marginal vitamin A stores appears to be significant from a public health perspective. None the less, the lower risk of xerophthalmia and mortality observed in breastfed infants compared to their nonbreastfed counterparts argues strongly in favour of continued breastfeeding. This difference is likely to be the result of inappropriate complementary foods and heightened vitamin A requirements due to high rates of infection in prematurely weaned infants. Also, based on the available evidence, it is not possible to make a case for exclusive over predominant breastfeeding unless one argues that all supplementary feeding decreases milk intake and thus, in these settings, also diminishes vitamin A intakes.

3.4 Vitamin D

3.4.1 Introduction

Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin that is synthesized in the skin and may be obtained from the diet. There are two forms: vitamin D2 (ergocalciferol) and vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol). Vitamin D2 originates from ergosterol, a plant sterol, and is obtained through the diet; vitamin D3 originates from 7-dehydrocholesterol, a precursor of cholesterol. Both vitamins D2 and D3 require one hydroxylation in the liver to 25-hydoxyvitamin D and another in the kidney to form the biologically active hormone, 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25 (OH)₂D).

Receptors for 1,25 (OH)₂ D are found in the small intestine and other tissues such as the brain, pancreas and heart. Anti-proliferation and pro-differentiation functions have been suggested for vitamin D (110). Receptors for 1,25 (OH)₂ D have been detected in the small intestine and colon of the human fetus (110), which suggests that vitamin D has an important role in cell differentiation during gestation (111). In postnatal life, the most widely recognized functions of vitamin D are related to calcium and phosphate metabolism.

3.4.2 Factors influencing the vitamin D content of human milk

It is widely accepted that human milk contains very low levels of vitamin D (Table 8). Vitamin D concentrations in human milk depend on maternal vitamin D status (112). Factors affecting vitamin D status include skin pigmentation, season and latitude (113). Increased skin melanin concentration reduces the efficiency of vitamin D synthesis in the skin. Thus, individuals with dark skin and limited sun exposure are at greater risk of inadequate vitamin D synthesis than those with less skin pigment. Although the vitamin D2 and D3 content in the milk of dark-skinned women may be lower than that of light-skinned women, maternal serum 25(OH)D levels can nevertheless be similar in both groups (114). However, these findings are not consistent with an earlier report by Specker et al. (115) of lower 25(OH)D in the milk and maternal serum of dark-skinned than light-skinned women and a significant correlation between maternal 25(OH)D in serum and milk. The vitamin D in milk of mothers who deliver in the late autumn or winter at or above 40°N latitude or below 40°S latitude comes only from dietary sources or stores because there is hardly any synthesis in the skin at these times of the year (116). Thus, the vitamin D content of the milk of women living at these latitudes can be reduced.

Table 8. Vitamin D content of human milk

Reference	N	Country	Vitamin D status	Milk concentration (µg/l)	Vitamin D activity (IU)	Stage of lactation	Milk sample
Hollis et al. (120)	5	Canada	Normal (NS)	0.39 ± 9	25	1—21 days	Whole milk
Leerbeck & Sondergaard (233)	2	Europe			15	Pooled	Lipid fraction
Reeve et al. (<i>234</i>)	3	USA	Normal (S)	0.16	53	Mid-lactation	
Bawnik et al. (<i>119</i>)	5	Israel	Unknown (NS)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.37 \pm 0.03 \\ 0.35 \pm 0.07 \end{array}$	15 15	3—21 days pooled	Whole milk
Zoeren-Grobben et al. (<i>235</i>)	8	Netherlands	Healthy (NS)	1.5 ± 6 NA		1—8 months	Lipid fraction

Abbreviations:

NS = non-supplemented

S = supplemented with vitamin D

NA = not available.

Since it is not easy to obtain preformed vitamin D from the diet – it is found in only a few food sources such as egg yolk, liver and fatty fish – maternal vitamin D status is most often a function of sun exposure. The consequences of this relationship can be highly significant. For example, 70% of the women of upper socioeconomic class and their exclusively or predominantly breastfed infants studied in Pakistan were reported to be vitamin D deficient (117). These findings suggest that vitamin D activity in human milk can be increased by maternal supplementation with preformed vitamin D (118–121, 112). Ala-Houhala et al. (118) reported that the administration of 2000 IU of vitamin D to breastfeeding women normalized their infants' 25(OH)D levels. A lower dose of 1000 IU was not effective in this regard. Yet, it is difficult to understand the rationale for supplementing women to correct their infants' vitamin D status, unless maternal supplementation is also used as a strategy to increase maternal vitamin D stores in preparation for a subsequent pregnancy, or to correct or avoid other maternal vitamin D abnormalities.

3.4.3 Estimates of vitamin D requirements

The United States Food and Nutrition Board (122) recommends 5 g of vitamin D for infants 0 to 6 months of age, although it also acknowledges that breastfed infants "with habitual small doses of sunshine" do not require supplemental vitamin D. Infants in far northern latitudes or those with minimal sunlight exposure require a minimum of 2.5 $\mu g/day$ (100 IU) to prevent rickets.

The physiological dependence on ultraviolet light for

normal vitamin D status is most evident when one considers that approximately 6 litres of human milk daily would be necessary to obtain the minimal amount of vitamin D needed to prevent rickets where sun exposure is inadequate. Two hours is the required minimum weekly amount of sunlight for infants if only the face is exposed, or 30 minutes if the upper and lower extremities are exposed. Breastfed infants who are exposed to less sunlight present low 25(OH)D serum concentrations (115). Because of the normal dependence on sunshine for vitamin D adequacy, it is not currently possible to provide precise estimates of vitamin D requirements.

Level of vitamin D intake and serum 25(OH)D

Serum 25(OH)D is considered the best indicator of vitamin D status because it reflects the combined vitamin D obtained from diet, sunlight and liver stores (123, 124). The cut-off for defining vitamin D deficiency in adults is based on the level of serum 25(OH)D below which high serum parathyroid hormone (PTH) concentrations are observed (122). However, a cut-off based on PTH has not been determined for infants. The current cut-off of 27.5 nmol/ 1 for infants is based on serum 25(OH)D levels observed in cases of vitamin D deficiency rickets. It is also important to note that although there are significant correlations between milk and maternal serum 25(OH)D levels, no such associations are reported between milk vitamin D and infant serum 25(OH)D. This is likely a reflection of the infant's endogenous synthesis of vitamin D (112).

Table 9. Vitamin D status of breastfed infants

Reference	N	Country	Age and duration of supplementation	Vitamin D Supplement	Serum 25 (OH) D (ng/ml)	ВМС	Growth
Roberts et al. (<i>129</i>)	22 19	USA	14 days 14 days—4 months	0 400 IU	$\begin{array}{c} 17\pm3 \\ 22\pm3 \end{array}$	Normal in all groups	Normal
Markestad et al. (130)	7	Norway	9—12 months	0	50% with less than 11 ng/ml		Dropped at 6 months from 60th to 40th percentile
Greer & Marshall (128)	24	USA	0—7 days	0	Dropped at		
	22	(Caucasian)	0-6 months	400 IU	1.5 months Normal		
Chan et al. (<i>125</i>)	22	USA	Birth	0	19 ± 2	Normal in	Normal in
	29	(Caucasian)	0—6 months	400 IU	$\textbf{23} \pm \textbf{3}$	all groups	all groups
Feliciano et al. (144)	255	China	3—5 days	100 IU			Normal in
			0—6 months	200 IU			all groups
				300 IU			
Fomon et al. (<i>145</i>)	26	USA	8 days	300 IU		Normal in	
	11	(Caucasian)	0—6 months	400 IU		all groups	
	13			1600 IU		<u> </u>	
Atiq et al. (141)	38	Pakistan	< 6 months	0	34 nmol/l		
	24		> 6 months				
Specker et al. (<i>133</i>)	52	China	3—5 days	100 IU	8 ± 13	Normal in	
	52	(North)	0-6 months	200 IU	6 ± 9	all groups	
	52			400 IU	11 ± 10		

Abbreviations:

BF = breastfed

BMC = bone mineral content

S = supplemented with vitamin D

Breastfed infants in regions where sunlight is plentiful have adequate serum concentrations of 25(OH)D before 6 months of age (125–129, 115). In contrast, infants less than 6 months of age living in regions where sunlight exposure is minimal have serum 25(OH)D concentrations within ranges typically observed in cases of rickets (130–133) (Table 9).

Other biochemical and clinical parameters associated with vitamin D deficiency

Decreases in the serum concentrations of phosphorus and increases in PTH are early signs of vitamin D deficiency. Decreases in serum calcium are observed only in very severe cases. Zeghoud et al. (134) evaluated responses to either 500 IU/day or 1000 IU/day of supplementary vitamin D in 42 infants born with subclinical vitamin D deficiency (low serum calcium

and 25(OH)D and high PTH). Infants who received the higher dose achieved normal serum 25(OH)D and PTH concentrations in the first month with no further changes in either 25(OH)D or PTH. Infants who received the lower dose also had increased 25(OH)D concentrations and decreased PTH levels. Although PTH and 25(OH)D levels were within the normal range by the end of the first month in infants who received 500 IU/day of supplementary vitamin D, PTH and 25(OH)D levels continued to change through the third month, approaching levels in infants supplemented at the higher dose. In the control group with normal serum calcium, 25(OH)D and PTH concentrations presented only slight increases in 25(OH)D (15 nmol/l); PTH concentrations remained stable. All three groups were fed a formula containing 400 IU/l of vitamin D. Thus, the authors concluded that infants born with subclinical vitamin D deficiency can require higher vitamin D

intakes in early life than those born with more adequate stores (134).

Clinical manifestations of severe vitamin D deficiency include hypocalcaemic seizures. A study in the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland of 2-to 14-month-old infants born to parents of Pakistani origin presented with hypocalcaemic seizures and were found to be vitamin D deficient. The diagnosis was based on high concentrations of alkaline phosphatase and low concentrations of serum 25(OH)D, loss of metaphyseal definition and a positive response to vitamin D supplementation (117).

Bone mineralization

Severe vitamin D insufficiency results in inadequate mineralization of the skeleton. In growing infants deficient mineralization leads to rickets, a disease characterized by a widening of the ends of long bones, deformation of the rib cage (rachitic rosary), and limb deformations such as bowed legs and knocked knees. Studies of subclinical vitamin D deficiency and its effects on bone mineralization are inconsistent, and this likely reflects both the differential effects of PTH on cortical and trabecular bone and the ability of various measurements to distinguish such effects. Primary hyperthyroidism decreases cortical bone mineral density (BMD), and either it has no effect on, or it increases, trabecular BMD (135, 136). In a study of exclusively breastfed infants in the USA, 400 IU of supplemental vitamin D prevented a decline in bone mineralization at the distal radius that has been observed in infants administered a placebo (126). However, Specker et al. did not observe rickets at 6 months of age in any of 256 breastfed infants enrolled in a randomized, double-blind controlled study in China that provided either 100 IU, 200 IU or 400 IU of vitamin D per day (133). This study found supplementation with 100 IU to be sufficient to prevent rickets in breastfed infants with limited sun exposure and vitamin D stores.

3.4.4 Vitamin D status and rickets

In 1925 Elliot reported a large number of breastfed infants with rickets in poor urban areas of the USA. Rickets in breastfed infants also has been reported more recently in Greece (137), Nigeria (138), Pakistan (119), and in the USA, mainly among African American infants (139, 140). In a study conducted in Chicago, Edidin et al. (140) described the social conditions that can lead to rickets in developed countries. Minimal sun exposure due to protective clothing, or unsafe neigh-

bourhood conditions that prohibit outdoor activities, placed at risk infants of middle and lower socioeconomic groups.

However, other studies have failed to identify breastfed infants with rickets despite low 25(OH)D serum concentrations. For rickets to develop, sustained low 25(OH)D concentrations for long periods are probably necessary. In a study conducted in northern China (40 to 47°N latitude) approximately 33% of the breastfed infants presented 25(OH)D concentrations below 11 ng/ml, and this despite supplements of 2.5 to 5 µg (100 to 200 IU) of vitamin D (133). In the Republic of Korea 97% of breastfed infants born during winter and 47% born during summer were reported to be vitamin D-deficient (131). In Pakistan, 55% of breastfed infants presented with vitamin D serum concentrations below 10 ng/ml (141). In the USA Greer & Tsang (142) reported that exclusively breastfed 6-month-old infants presented with very low 25(OH)D serum concentrations, but none in any of these populations presented with rickets.

Thus, although there is abundant evidence suggesting that breastfed infants often receive less vitamin D than is required, most studies fail to find rickets in breastfed infants less than 6 months of age. However, this conclusion is tempered by studies of older infants. In 1979 Bacharach et al. reported rickets in breastfed infants older than 6 months whose mothers were vitamin D-deficient during pregnancy and lactation (139). In 1980, 9 cases of rickets were reported in Chicago in exclusively breastfed infants aged 7 to 24 months (140). None of the infants received any food from animal sources. Thirty children (median age 15.5 months) were diagnosed with rickets in North Carolina. All were African American and were breastfed for a median duration of 12.5 months with no vitamin D supplements (143).

It thus seems that infants who are exclusively or predominantly breastfed for 6 months or longer can be at an increased risk of rickets if their mothers are at risk of vitamin D deficiency, and the infants receive limited sun exposure and no vitamin D supplements.

3.4.5 Vitamin D and growth in young infants

The effects of vitamin D on growth in early infancy are best evaluated from results of a study conducted in China of breastfed infants assigned randomly to either 100, 200 or 400 IU of vitamin D per day. The different doses of vitamin D did not affect growth rates of infants who were born at the same latitude, but significant

differences were found in length gains over a 6-month period between infants living in northern or southern China. Length gains were greater in infants born in the north independent of supplement level. No seasonal differences were noted in either the south or the north. These data suggest that differences (e.g. genetic or environmental) other than vitamin D status may have influenced regional differences in length gain (144).

3.4.6 Vitamin D and growth in older infants

The effect of marginal vitamin D status on growth in older infants remains somewhat controversial because of inconsistent findings. On the whole, however, there appear to be few data supporting adverse effects on growth. Fomon, Younoszai & Thomas (145) reported similar growth rates from birth to 140 days among infants receiving either a formula supplemented with 400 or 1600 IU of vitamin D and breastfed infants. Breastfed infants were allowed one formula feeding daily that provided 500 IU of vitamin D/l. Breastfed infants also received a multivitamin preparation containing 1500 IU vitamin A, 200 IU vitamin D, several of the B vitamins and ferrous sulphate. Also, infants were unlikely to be born with marginal vitamin D stores. In another study in the USA of infants less than 1 year of age, no differences in weight or length were detected between breastfed infants, breastfed infants supplemented with 400 IU of vitamin D, and infants fed formula with added vitamin D. However, all mothers in the study were supplemented with vitamin D while infants were permitted one formula feeding per day during the first 4 months, after which solids were added to their diet (125).

In a series of studies conducted by Brooke et al., slow statural growth was reported in the first year of life in infants who were born to vitamin D-deficient mothers supplemented with vitamin D in the postpartum period (146-148). Greer et al. (127) reported that Caucasian infants exclusively breastfed for 6 months in Wisconsin were 2 cm shorter at 1 year than infants who received 400 IU daily of supplemental vitamin D, although the difference did not attain statistical significance. It is unclear if there was no difference in attained stature or if failure to detect a difference reflected a lack of sufficient power in the experimental design. In another study of vitamin D-deficient infants who were exclusively breastfed for a mean of 7.5 months, lengthfor-age percentiles dropped from 60 to 40 between 6 to 12 months of age (130). Thus, breastfed infants of women with poor vitamin D status, or infants with biochemical evidence of vitamin D deficiency, appear to experience impaired growth unless supplemented with vitamin D. However, other nutrient deficiencies may account for growth retardation.

3.4.7 Summary

The vitamin D content of human milk is low and dependent on maternal vitamin D status as reflected by maternal serum 25(OH)D. Breastfed infants can maintain normal vitamin D status in the early postnatal period only when their mothers' vitamin D status is normal and/or the infants are exposed to adequate amounts of sunlight. Risk of vitamin D deficiency increases as infants' sun exposure decreases, and the ability of infants of vitamin D-replete mothers to maintain normal vitamin D status in the absence of sun exposure remains unknown. Infants born at high latitudes, or in places where sun exposure is restricted for cultural or other reasons, are at special risk; they are likely to be born with low vitamin D stores due to low maternal vitamin D status. If sunlight exposure or exogenous intakes of vitamin D remain inadequate, the risk of vitamin D deficiency rises with age as stores are depleted.

3.5 Vitamin B6

3.5.1 Introduction

Vitamin B6 functions as a coenzyme in the metabolism of protein, carbohydrate and fat. The term refers to several compounds, e.g. pyridoxal (PL), pyridoxine (PN), pyridoxamine (PM) and their respective phosphate forms – PLP, PNP and PMP. The major forms of vitamin B6 are PLP and PMP in animal tissues, and PN and PNP in plant tissues. Signs and symptoms of vitamin B6 deficiency include dermatitis, microcytic anaemia, seizures, depression and confusion. In infants vitamin B6 deficiency appears to adversely influence growth.

3.5.2 Vitamin B6 content in human milk

The vitamin B6 content of human milk varies with maternal B6 status and intake. The mean B6 concentration in human milk of women with B6 intakes below 2.5 mg/day is 0.13 mg/l (778 nmol/l). Mean B6 levels in milk of women with B6 intakes between 2.5 and 5 mg/day are substantially higher – approximately 0.24 mg/l (149). Thus, the daily B6 intakes of infants 1 to 6 months of age who consume at least 780 ml/day of human milk with a B6 concentration of 0.13 mg/l

should, as expected, meet the 0.1 mg/day estimated adequate intake (AI) for this age group (150) since the AI was based on B6 intake from human milk.

The milk concentration of vitamin B6 in populations at risk of vitamin B6 deficiency may be sub-optimal. The concentration of B6 in the milk of 70 Egyptian women consuming 1.0 mg vitamin B6/day was 0.073 mg/l, substantially lower than that reported for women in Western societies (151). Lower concentrations of milk B6 were associated with lower birth weight and altered infant behaviour. Thus, human milk's vitamin B6 content closely parallels the mother's intake of this vitamin.

Other factors, e.g. length of gestation, stage of lactation and the use of B6 supplements, influence the vitamin B6 concentration in human milk. The vitamin B6 concentrations in milk of women supplemented during lactation with 2 or 27 mg B6/day and who delivered prematurely were reported to be 0.05 mg/l and 0.22 mg/ l, respectively. These levels were sustained for 28 days postpartum. Levels in milk of women who delivered at term and were supplemented at the same levels were, respectively, 0.08 mg/l and 0.38 mg/l during the first week postpartum. Vitamin B6 levels in milk rose to 0.10 mg/l and 0.50 mg/l, respectively, by 28 days postpartum (152). Similarly, in a study conducted by Udipi et al., throughout the first month postpartum vitamin B6 levels in milk of women delivering prematurely were lower than the levels of women who delivered at term (153). Also analysed was the effect on vitamin B6 milk concentrations of different levels of supplementation. Women received 0, 2.5, 10 or 20 mg PN(HCL) for 3 consecutive days. Non-supplemented mothers had the lowest vitamin B6 levels in their milk $(0.09 \pm 0.01 \text{ mg/l})$ compared to the other groups $(0.19 \pm 0.02 \text{ mg/l}, 0.25 \pm$ 0.02 mg/l and $0.41 \pm 0.04 \text{ mg/l}$, respectively) (154).

3.5.3 Approaches used to estimate vitamin B6 requirements

Measurements of vitamin B6 concentrations in plasma, blood cells or urine have been used as indicators of B6 status. Functional indicators such as erythrocyte aminotransferase saturation by PLP or measurements of various tryptophan metabolites also have been considered as indicators of B6 status in depletion-repletion studies because of their responsiveness to changes in B6 intakes. Plasma PLP often has been used to assess vitamin B6 status because it reflects tissue stores, responds to changes in dietary B6 and correlates well with other B6 indices (155). However, erythrocyte PLP may be a more reliable indicator, particularly in infants (156).

3.5.4 Estimates of requirements

The AI for vitamin B6 is 0.1 mg/day for infants 0 to 6 months and 0.3 mg/day for infants 6 to 12 months of age (160). The AI for the younger age group is based on intakes of exclusively breastfed infants. The AI for older infants is based on extrapolations from data obtained in both the younger age group and adults.

3.5.5 Vitamin B6 status of breastfed infants and lactating women

Blood PLP concentrations are high in the fetus and newborn, and they decrease progressively throughout the first year of life (157). Reference ranges for erythrocyte PLP (EPLP) concentrations and erythrocyte aspartate transaminase (EAST) activities in lactating Finnish women and their infants were established by Heiskanen et al. (156). To be included in the reference, infants had to be exclusively breastfed for 6 months by women with adequate B6 status who were supplemented with 1 mg PN/day, who fed appropriate complementary foods after 6 months, and who weaned to a cow's milkbased formula at approximately 9 months. The 10th centile values for EPLP concentrations and EAST activity and activation coefficients were defined based on subsets (n=90 at 2, n=106 at 4, n=99 at 6, n=39 at 9, and n=100 at 12 months postpartum) of the original sample (n=198).

In a follow-up analysis, Heiskanen et al. (158) evaluated the B6 status of 44 infants from the original sample of 198 who met WHO's feeding recommendation (exclusive breastfeeding for 6 months and continued breastfeeding for 12 months with appropriate complementary feeding). Low vitamin B6 status – diagnosed as at least two reference values below the 10th centile cut-offs – was observed in 7 of the 44 infants between 4 and 6 months of age. Weight velocities of these infants did not differ from infants with normal B6 status, but their length velocity was significantly lower at 6 to 9 months.

The vitamin B6 status of exclusively breastfed infants was evaluated at 2 months (n=118), 4 months (n=118), 6 months (n=112), 7.5 months (n=70), 9 months (n=36), 10 months (n=14), 11 months (n=11) and 12 months (n=7) (159). During the first 4 months the vitamin B6 status of the infants was adequate and independent of maternal status. By 6 months 30% of the infants breastfed by mothers with low vitamin B6 status also had low status. By 6 months of exclusive breastfeeding, the low vitamin B6 status of mothers was reflected in the vitamin B6 status of their infants. At 6

and 7.5 months indicators of vitamin B6 status in mothers and infants were significantly correlated. Despite a daily PN supplement of 1 mg/day, maternal B6 status was inadequate in ~8% of mothers in the first 6 months and in 11% of mothers at 9 months postpartum. Prenatal vitamin B6 stores appear important for the maintenance of adequate vitamin B6 status of breastfed infants in the first 4 months of life. Human milk alone may not sustain vitamin B6 requirements beyond 6 months.

3.5.6 Growth of breastfed infants in relation to vitamin B6 status

In the series of studies conducted by Heiskanen et al. (156, 158, 158) EPLP concentrations at 4 months of age correlated positively with length velocity from 0 to 6 months (r=0.46, p=0.006), and EAST activity in the entire sample correlated with length velocity and changes in length-for-age at 9 months. Weight velocity assessed during the entire first year did not differ statistically among infants with adequate or low B6 indices (n=7). Between 6 and 9 months of age, infants with low B6 indices experienced slower length velocities than infants with adequate B6 indices. Despite similar protein status at 4, 6 and 9 months determined by plasma total proteins, prealbumin and transferrin, all 7 infants with low B6 indices presented declines in length-forage Z-scores.

Kang-Yoon et al. (160) evaluated the growth of infants of well-nourished women supplemented with 2 or 27 mg PL-HCl/day during the first month postpartum. A subgroup was selected from infants born to women who received a 2 mg vitamin B6 supplement. This subgroup of infants was supplemented postnatally with 0.4 mg of vitamin B6. This subgroup, and infants whose mothers were supplemented at the higher level, achieved higher weight-for-age and length-for-age Z-scores than infants of women supplemented at the lowest level despite similar values at entry.

3.5.7 Summary

Maternal B6 status and intake, length of gestation, stage of lactation and use of B6 supplements affect the B6 content of human milk. In well-nourished populations, human milk appears to maintain normal vitamin B6 status in most exclusively breastfed infants during the first 4 to 6 months of age; the risk of B6 inadequacy appears to increase beyond 6 months. After 6 months of exclusive breastfeeding, low vitamin B6 status in a mother was associated with low vitamin B6 status in

her infant. Compromised linear growth associated with low vitamin B6 status in infants exclusively breastfed for 6 months was reversible through appropriate complementary feeding. In populations with poor vitamin B6 nutriture, the concentration of B6 in human milk will be sub-optimal, with possible adverse effects on infant growth and neurological development.

3.6 Calcium

3.6.1 Human milk composition

Human milk contains 250–300 mg/l of calcium with no pronounced changes during lactation (33). Generally, maternal diet does not appear to influence the concentration of calcium in milk. However, recent studies from the Gambia indicated that poorly nourished women on low-calcium diets produced milk with lower-than-normal calcium levels (161), which did not increase with calcium supplementation (162).

3.6.2 Estimates of calcium requirements

Calcium requirements are affected substantially by genetic variability and other dietary factors (163). Pronounced calcium deficiency resulting in tetany rarely occurs in the healthy, breastfed infant and therefore is not helpful in determining requirements. Assessment of calcium status is difficult since serum levels are homeostatically regulated and therefore do not reflect body content. Inadequate calcium intake can result in lower-than-normal bone mineralization. Single-beam X-ray densitometry and, more recently, dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) have been used to measure bone mineral content (BMC) and BMD.

Using DXA, breastfed infants have been shown to have lower BMC and BMD than formula-fed infants at 6 months (164) and 12 months (37). However, the clinical relevance of this is uncertain since the differences in bone mineralization did not persist beyond weaning (37, 164). Since bone mineralization did not differ between breastfed and formula-fed infants after weaning, retention of more calcium than that achieved by breastfed infants does not seem to benefit bone mineralization later in life.

Compared to British children, BMC at the radius in Gambian infants was slightly lower at birth, and it fell progressively during early childhood such that by 36 months it was 31% lower (165). The difference remained significant after correction for body weight, height and bone width. Although the BMC of Gambian and British women is remarkably similar, it could be

argued that the BMC of Gambian women is less than their genetic potential, as African Americans are known to have significantly higher BMC than their fairer-skinned counterparts. Weaning breastfed infants onto low-calcium diets may compromise later bone mineralization.

Balance studies in breastfed term infants indicate rates of absorption ranging from 40 to 70% (166, 167). In breastfed infants, a mean calcium intake was 327 mg/day and the retention was 80 mg/day (166). Losses amounted to 247 mg/day.

Stable-isotope studies using 44 calcium and 46 calcium have been used to determine calcium absorption and retention in term infants (168). Calcium absorption measured using stable isotopes averaged $61 \pm 23\%$ (range 27–89%) in a study of 14 human milk-fed infants, aged 5 to 7 months, with a mean weight of 7.8 kg (168). Based on an assumed milk concentration of 0.25 mg/ml and 766 ml/day, an endogenous faecal excretion of 3 mg/kg per day, these authors estimated from their observations that 68 mg/day of calcium were retained from human milk (168).

The accretion of body calcium during the first year of life has been estimated from changes in body weight (140 mg/day) (169) and metacarpal morphometry (80 mg/day) (170, 171).

The calcium requirements of breastfed infants have been estimated from urinary calcium losses (3 mg/kg per day), faecal endogenous losses (3 mg/kg per day) (168), and rates of calcium accretion (Table 10). We estimated calcium accretion from BMC measurements by DXA taken at 15 days and 12 months of age (172) on the assumption that 32.2% of BMC was calcium (173). These estimated requirements were based on a small number of infants and several assumptions and thus should be confirmed by further study. Based on the estimated calcium intakes of exclusively breastfed infants, the efficiency of calcium absorption would have to be greater than 70% to cover these estimated requirements.

3.6.3 Summary

Calcium requirements during infancy were derived from stable isotope studies of calcium absorption and retention, and calcium accretion rates. Calcium content of human milk is fairly constant throughout lactation and is not influenced by maternal diet. Based on the estimated calcium intakes of exclusively breastfed infants, human milk meets the calcium requirements

Table 10. Calcium requirements of breastfed infants

Age (months)	Calcium urinary losses (mg/day) BOYS ^A	Calcium urinary losses (mg/day) GIRLS ^A	Calcium endogenous faecal losses (mg/day) BOYS ^B	Calcium endogenous faecal losses (mg/day) GIRLS ^B	Calcium gain (mg/day) BOYS ^C	Calcium gain (mg/day) GIRLS ^C	Calcium gain (mg/day) ALL	Total requirement for net calcium absorption (mg/day) BOYS	Total requirement for net calcium absorption (mg/day) GIRLS	Total requirement for net calcium absorption (mg/day) ALL
1	14	13	14	13	131	109	120	158	135	147
2	17	15	17	15	131	109	120	164	140	152
3	19	17	19	17	131	109	120	169	144	156
4	21	19	21	19	131	109	120	173	147	160
5	22	21	22	21	131	109	120	176	151	163
6	24	22	24	22	131	109	120	179	153	166
7	25	23	25	23	131	109	120	181	155	168
8	26	24	26	24	131	109	120	183	157	170
9	27	25	27	25	131	109	120	184	159	172
10	27	26	27	26	131	109	120	186	160	173
11	28	26	28	26	131	109	120	187	161	174
12	29	27	29	27	131	109	120	189	163	176

^a Calcium urinary losses (3 mg/kg per day) (168).

^b Calcium endogenous faecal losses (3 mg/kg per day) (168).

^c Calcium gain (*172*).

of infants during the first 6 months of life if the efficiency of absorption is maintained at ~70%, which is within reported rates (166, 167).

3.7 **Iron**

3.7.1 Human milk composition

The concentration of iron in human milk declines from ~0.4–0.8 mg/l in colostrum to ~0.2–0.4 mg/l in mature human milk (33). The iron content of human milk appears to be homeostatically controlled by up- and down-regulation of transferrin receptors in the mammary gland (174); consequently, it is unaffected by maternal iron status or diet.

3.7.2 Estimates of iron requirements

Major factors determining iron requirements during infancy are iron endowment at birth, requirements for growth and a need to replace losses. The newborn infant is well endowed with iron stores and a high concentration of haemoglobin. In the first 6 to 8 weeks of life, there is a marked decline in haemoglobin from the highest to the lowest observed during development due to the abrupt decrease in erythropoiesis in response to increased postnatal delivery of oxygen to tissues (175). In the next stage, between 2 and 4 months of age, haemoglobin concentration gradually increases. Erythropoiesis becomes more active, and there is an increase in erythroid precursors in the bone marrow and an elevation of the reticulocyte count. Between 4 and 6 months of age, there is an increased dependence on dietary iron. Dietary iron provides ~30% of the requirement for haemoglobin iron turnover, compared to 5% in adults (175). Because of the considerable iron requirement for growth and the marginal supply of iron in infant diets, iron deficiency is prevalent among infants between 6 and 12 months of age.

Iron-containing compounds in the body serve metabolic or enzymatic functions or are used for storage. Haemoglobin, myoglobin, the cytochromes and several other proteins function in transport, storage and utilization of oxygen. Iron is stored primarily as ferritin and haemosiderin. Iron is mobilized from these reserves to maintain haemoglobin and other iron-containing compounds. Body function is unlikely to be impaired as long as iron reserves are available. When iron reserves are depleted, iron deficiency will result in anaemia. Haemoglobin can be used to diagnose iron deficiency anaemia although the cut-off value for infants is debated. Serum ferritin, transferrin saturation, trans-

ferrin receptor and mean corpuscular volume can be used to assess iron deficiency.

Total body iron is relatively stable from birth to ~4 months of age, but the proportion of body iron in distinct compartments (e.g. red blood cells, myoglobin and stores) shifts dramatically as stores are depleted and demands for iron increase to meet needs imposed from 4 to 12 months of age by expanding red blood cell and myoglobin compartments. Iron requirements thus rise markedly around 4 to 6 months of age (176). These requirements are very high relative to infants' energy requirements at this age. Factorial, balance and stable isotope methods have been used to estimate infants' iron requirements. Iron needed to recover endogenous losses through the gastrointestinal tract (62 mg/year) and skin (29 mg/year) has been estimated to be approximately 91 mg/year. Iron at 1 year of life as haemoglobin (270 mg), myoglobin and enzymes (54 mg), and storage (53 mg) amounts to 109 mg above the amount present at birth (268 mg) (177). Using this factorial approach, the total iron requirement during infancy is ~200 mg/ year or 0.55 mg/day. Since there is a substantial increase in erythrocyte mass and myoglobin between 4 and 12 months (176, 178), the iron requirement is thought to be higher in later than early infancy. Iron requirements are thus estimated to be 0.5 mg/day for infants from 0 to 6 months of age and 0.9 mg/day for infants 6 to 12 months of age (Table 11).

Table 11. Iron Requirements of breastfed infants

Age (months)	Faecal and skin losses (mg/day)	Iron gain (mg/day) All	Total iron requirement (mg/day)		
1–6	0.24	0.25	0.49		
7–12	0.37	0.53	0.90		

Source: reference 177.

Iron intakes from human milk are summarized in Table 4. At a fractional iron absorption rate of 0.20, it is clear that breastfed infants subsidize their requirements from iron reserves in the body. Stable isotope studies using ⁵⁹Fe have tended to overestimate the absorption of iron from human milk because of unequal distribution of the extrinsic label with intrinsic iron in human milk. Recent studies have indicated that the absorption of iron from human milk is more likely to be lower – ~19–20% (179, 180). A balance study in exclusively breastfed term infants resulted in positive iron balances up to 4 months

of age (181). Recent results using ⁵⁹Fe and ⁵⁸Fe indicated a median absorption of iron from human milk of 14% at 6 months of age, 49% in non Fe-supplemented infants and 18% in Fe-supplemented infants at 9 months of age. Although iron absorption was enhanced, the iron in human milk would not be sufficient to meet estimated iron requirements (Abrams, personal communication).

Iron status – assessed by the determination of haemoglobin, red blood cell counts, transferrin, transferrin saturation, serum iron and ferritin – of exclusively breastfed infants was satisfactory up to 6 months of age in studies by Duncan et al. (182), Lönnerdal & Hernell (183), Saarinen & Siimes (184) and Simes et al. (185). Iron status was adequate in one study up to 9 to 12 months of age in exclusively breastfed infants (186). However, other studies demonstrated that breastfed infants who do not receive iron supplements are at risk of becoming iron-deficient in the second half of infancy (187, 185).

3.7.3 Summary

Human milk is a poor source of iron and cannot be altered by maternal iron supplementation. It is clear that the estimated iron requirements of infants cannot be met by human milk alone at any stage of infancy. The iron endowment at birth adequately provides for the iron needs of the breastfed infant in the first half of infancy. The iron available for growth and development should be adequate until iron stores are exhausted.

Factorial and balance methods have been used to estimate the iron requirements of infants. Iron requirements are estimated to be 0.5 mg/day for infants from 0 to 6 months of age and 0.9 mg/day for infants 7 to 12 months of age. Human milk's iron content, which declines from ~0.4–0.8 mg/l in colostrum to ~0.2–0.4 mg/l in mature milk, is unaffected by maternal iron status or diet. The estimated iron intakes of exclusively breastfed infants are insufficient to meet their iron requirements. At a fractional iron absorption rate of 0.20, it is clear that breastfed infants subsidize their requirements from iron body reserves. It appears that breastfed infants who do not receive additional iron from supplements or complementary foods are at risk of becoming iron-deficient in the second half of infancy.

3.8 **Zinc**

3.8.1 Human milk composition

The concentration of zinc in human milk declines precipitously from 4-5 mg/l in early milk, to 1-2 mg/l

at 3 months postpartum, and to ~ 0.5 mg/l at 6 months (33). There is considerable inter-individual variation in milk zinc concentrations; in one study the coefficient of variation was 0.25 at 2 weeks postpartum and > 0.50 at 5 to 7 months (188). Interestingly, milk zinc concentration displays channelling or tracking in individuals throughout lactation. A significant correlation (r=0.60) was detected between the concentration of zinc in early milk at 2 weeks postpartum and mature milk at 5 to 7 months (188).

Maternal dietary zinc has not been shown to affect the zinc content of human milk, while concentrations in human milk seem resistant to zinc supplementation. Studies of lactating women receiving daily zinc supplements did not show any effect on milk zinc concentration (188, 189), nor did daily doses of 50-150 mg zinc prevent a decline in milk zinc concentration (190). A slower rate of decline, however, was observed in lactating women supplemented with 15 mg/day zinc for 9 months of lactation (191). A randomized, controlled supplementation trial by the same group of investigators failed to confirm their earlier observations (188). A supplement of 20 mg/day for 9 months did not increase mean serum or milk zinc in Finnish women (191). However, a 40-mg supplement increased maternal serum levels at 2 months and the milk level after 6 months of supplementation. A recent study in lactating Spanish women provided evidence that both dietary zinc intake and serum zinc concentrations were positively correlated with milk zinc concentrations (193). Women with low zinc intake in their third trimester of pregnancy (< 10 mg/day zinc) had lower concentrations of zinc in their milk. A comparison of milk zinc concentrations from lactating women in developing and developed countries supports the hypothesis that chronically low dietary zinc is associated with lower milk zinc concentrations (194).

3.8.2 Estimates of zinc requirements

Severe zinc deficiency results in acrodermatitis enteropathica, impaired immune function, diarrhoea and growth retardation. Zinc status is commonly assessed by serum zinc; however, this indicator is affected by other factors, notably infection, stress and growth rate. Serum zinc is informative for groups of healthy infants but not for assessing individuals.

There are several case reports of severe zinc deficiency in breastfed term infants receiving milk having lower-than-normal concentrations of zinc (195–200). Since maternal zinc supplementation failed to increase milk concentrations, zinc uptake or secretion by the mammary gland appeared defective in these cases.

Mean serum zinc was stable in breastfed infants from 2 to 9 months, but the number of infants in the low range (0.55mg/l) increased from 3% at birth to 30% at between 4 to 9 months (192). Serum zinc correlated with zinc intake and milk zinc concentrations. However, neither low zinc intakes nor low serum zinc levels were associated with poor growth.

In contrast, a decline in serum zinc and erythrocyte metallothionein concentration from 6 to 9 months was observed in breastfed Danish infants (201). Serum zinc at 9 months was positively correlated with weight gain between 6 and 9 months. Mean serum zinc did not change significantly between 2 and 6 months, and then fell significantly between 6 and 9 months, reaching a low mean of 8.4 µmol/l.

Median zinc balance in term predominantly breastfed infants studied at 17, 35, 57, 85 and 113 days of age has been shown to be positive (0.1 mg/kg per day); however, the range of zinc balances was high (202) and 33% of the infants were in negative balance. Stable-isotope studies using ⁶⁷Zn and ⁷⁰Zn demonstrated equilibration of the extrinsic label with intrinsic milk zinc (203). The mean fractional zinc absorption from human milk was 0.55 or 0.08 mg/kg per day in 2- to 5-month-old breastfed infants with some variation with infant age (204).

In the latter study, the infants all achieved positive zinc balance through relatively high fractional zinc absorption and conservation of endogenous zinc losses.

Since there is no pharmacological effect of zinc on growth, zinc supplementation trials of breastfed infants provide evidence as to whether zinc is limiting growth. A 3-month intervention trial was undertaken in 4- to 9-month-old breastfed infants who received either 5 mg/day zinc or a placebo (205). A significant increase in weight gain and linear growth was observed in the supplemented infants. Complementary foods and formula use were not reported. Whether the amount of zinc provided by human milk during the complementary feeding period was insufficient or whether properties of food interfered with the absorption of zinc from human milk is uncertain (205).

In another random double-blind study, exclusively breastfed infants were assigned to receive a 5 mg/day zinc-supplement or placebo from 2 to 6.5 months of age (206). Zinc supplementation did not enhance the growth of exclusively breastfed infants. This suggests either that zinc intakes and stores in these infants were sufficient to sustain growth or, alternatively, that zinc alone may not be limiting the growth of exclusively breastfed infants. Zinc, in combination with other trace

Table 12. Zinc requirements of breastfed infants

Age (months)	Urine and sweat losses (mg/day) BOYS ^a	Urine and sweat losses (mg/day) GIRLS ^a	Urine and sweat losses (mg/day) ALL	Endogenous faecal losses (mg/day) BOYS ^b	Endogenous faecal losses (mg/day) GIRLS ^b	Endogenous faecal losses (mg/day) ALL	Zinc gain (mg/day) BOYS ^c	Zinc gain (mg/day) GIRLS ^c	Zinc gain (mg/day) ALL	Total requirement for net zinc absorption (mg/day)
1	0.092	0.087	0.089	0.229	0.218	0.223	0.704	0.566	0.635	0.947
2	0.110	0.103	0.106	0.275	0.257	0.266	0.599	0.507	0.553	0.925
3	0.126	0.116	0.121	0.314	0.291	0.303	0.461	0.421	0.441	0.864
4	0.139	0.128	0.134	0.347	0.321	0.334	0.375	0.362	0.368	0.836
5	0.150	0.138	0.144	0.374	0.346	0.360	0.322	0.309	0.316	0.820
6	0.159	0.147	0.153	0.397	0.368	0.382	0.257	0.257	0.257	0.791
7	0.166	0.154	0.160	0.415	0.386	0.400	0.230	0.217	0.224	0.784
8	0.172	0.161	0.167	0.431	0.402	0.416	0.211	0.184	0.197	0.780
9	0.178	0.166	0.172	0.444	0.416	0.430	0.178	0.171	0.174	0.776
10	0.183	0.171	0.177	0.456	0.428	0.442	0.158	0.158	0.158	0.777
11	0.187	0.175	0.181	0.469	0.437	0.453	0.158	0.145	0.151	0.785
12	0.192	0.180	0.186	0.481	0.450	0.466	0.158	0.145	0.151	0.803

^a Urinary and sweat zinc losses (20 μg/kg per day) (209).

^b Endogenous faecal zinc losses (50 μg/kg per day) (204).

^c Zinc gain (20 μg/g weight gain) (*210, 211*).

minerals present in very small amounts in human milk, might be limiting the growth of older exclusively breastfed infants.

Using stable isotope studies, the estimated mean net zinc absorption, which does not include urinary or integumental losses, was 0.26 mg/day at 2 months and 0.29 mg/day at 4 to 5 months (207). Even with very efficient absorption and conservation of endogenous losses, net zinc absorption did not meet zinc requirements at 2 months or 4 to 5 months. Mobilization of hepatic zinc bound to metallothionein may supplement the infant's needs during the first months of life, but by 4.4 months hepatic metallothionein levels fall to those found in older children (208).

Zinc requirements of infants may be estimated by the factorial method (209). Urinary and sweat zinc losses are estimated to be 20 μ g/kg per day (209). Zinc required for new tissue accretion is estimated to be 20 μ g/g weight gain or 30 μ g/g lean tissue gain (210, 211). Endogenous faecal zinc losses are estimated to be 50 μ g/kg per day (204). Total zinc requirements for net zinc absorption are summarized in Table 12. These estimated zinc requirements should be considered provisional since they were based on studies with small sample sizes and extrapolated data. Zinc requirements are higher in boys than in girls and are highest in early infancy, at the time of greatest weight gain. As growth velocity slows in later infancy, the losses in urine and sweat exceed the amount deposited in tissues.

Mean zinc intakes from human milk are summarized in Table 4. At an estimated fractional zinc absorption of 0.55 (204), net zinc absorption will fall short of actual zinc needs. Zinc intakes from human milk are subject to inter-individual variation in milk zinc concentrations. Since milk zinc concentration displays significant tracking (r=0.60) in individuals throughout lactation (188), infants whose mothers produce low zinc concentrations will be at increased risk of zinc deficiency. Since milk intakes are driven by energy needs and not by zinc requirements, and since milk energy and zinc concentrations are not correlated, milk zinc intakes will not be determined by infant size or growth potential.

3.8.3 Summary

The concentration of zinc in human milk declines precipitously between early and mature milk and is basically unaffected by maternal zinc supplementation. There is some evidence that chronically low dietary zinc is associated with lower milk zinc concentrations. Zinc requirements have been estimated by the factorial method. At an estimated fractional zinc absorption of 0.55, the net zinc absorption from human milk will fall short of zinc needs, which appear to be subsidized by prenatal stores.

References

- Behrman RE, Kleigman RM, Jenson HB. Nelson Textbook of Pediatrics. Philadelphia, W.B. Saunders Co., 2000.
- Martorell R. Child growth retardation: a discussion of its causes and its relationship to health. In: Blaxter K, Waterlow JS., eds. Nutritional Adaptation in Man. London, John Libbey, 1985.
- Shetty PS et al. Energy requirements of adults: an update on basal metabolic rates (BMRs) and physical activity levels (PALs). European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1996, 50:S11–S23.
- 4. Butte NF. Energy requirements of infants. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1996, 50:24S–36S.
- 5. Dewey KG et al. Protein requirements of infants and children. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1996, 50:S119–S150.
- Food and Nutrition Board. I. Dietary Reference Intakes. Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc. Washington, DC, National Academy Press, 2001.
- 7. Waterlow JC & Thomson AM. Observations on the adequacy of breast-feeding. *Lancet*, 1979, 2:238–242.
- 8. An evaluation of infant growth. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1994 (unpublished document WHO/NUT/94.8; available from the Department of Nutrition for Health and Development, World Health Organization, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland)
- 9. Garza C et al. Changes in the nutrient composition of human milk during gradual weaning. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1983, **37**:61–65.
- Goldman AS, Garza C & Goldblum RM. Immunologic components in human milk during the second year of lactation. Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica, 1983, 72:461–462.
- 11. Bauchner H, Leventhal JM, Shapiro ED. Studies of breast-feeding and infections. How good is the evidence? *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1986, **256**:887–892.

- 12. Kopple JD. Uses and limitations of the balance technique. *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition*, 1987, 11:79S–85S.
- 13. Lampl M, Veldhuis JD, Johnson ML. Saltation and stasis: a model of human growth. *Science*, 1992, 258:801–803.
- National Research Council. Nutrient Adequacy. Assessment using food consumption surveys. Washington, DC, National Academy Press, 1986.
- Beaton GH. Criteria of an adequate diet. In: Shils ME, Olson JA, Shike M, eds. Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease. Philadelphia, Lea & Febiger, 1994.
- 16. Butte NF et al. Human milk intake and growth of exclusively breast-fed infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1984, 104:187–195.
- 17. de Kanashiro HC et al. Consumption of food and nutrients by infants in Huascar (Lima), Peru. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1990, 52:995–1004.
- 18. Naing KM & Co TT. Growth and milk intake of exclusively breast-fed Myanmar infants. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1991, **45**:203–207.
- 19. Butte NF et al. Evaluation of the deuterium dilution technique against the test-weighing procedure for the determination of breast milk intake. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1983, 37:996–1003.
- 20. Butte NF et al. Human milk intake and growth faltering of rural Mesoamerindian infants. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1992, **55**:1109–1116.
- 21. Coward WA et al. Breast-milk intake measurement in mixed-fed infants by administration of deuterium oxide to their mothers. *Human Nutrition*. *Clinical Nutrition*, 1982, **36C**:141–148.
- 22. Chandra RK. Breast feeding, growth and morbidity. *Nutrition Research*, 1981, 1:25–31.
- 23. Dewey KG & Lönnerdal B. Milk and nutrient intake of breastfed infants from 1 to 6 months: relation to growth and fatness. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1983, 2:497–506.

- 24. Neville MC et al. Studies in human lactation: milk volumes in lactating women during the onset of lactation and full lactation. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1988, **48**:1375–1386.
- Salmenperä L, Perheentupa J, Siimes MA. Exclusively breast-fed healthy infants grow slower than reference infants. *Pediatric Research*, 1985, 19:307–312.
- Stuff JE & Nichols BL. Nutrient intake and growth performance of older infants fed human milk. *Journal* of *Pediatrics*, 1989, 115:959–968.
- 27. Whitehead RG & Paul AA. Infant growth and human milk requirements. A fresh approach. *Lancet*, 1981, 2:161–163.
- 28. Krebs NF et al. Growth and intakes of energy and zinc in infants fed human milk. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1994, **124**:32–39.
- Dewey KG et al. Adequacy of energy intake among breast-fed infants in the DARLING study: relationships to growth velocity, morbidity, and activity levels. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1991, 119:538–547
- 30. Cohen RJ et al. Effects of age of introduction of complementary foods on infant breast milk intake, total energy intake, and growth: a randomised intervention study in Honduras. *Lancet*, 1994, 343:288–293.
- 31. Morrow AL et al. Efficacy of home-based peer counselling to promote exclusive breastfeeding: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*, 1999, 353: 1226–1231.
- 32. Haider R et al. Effect of community-based peer counsellors on exclusive breastfeeding practices in Dhaka, Bangladesh: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet*, 2002, **356**:1643–1647.
- 33. Jensen RG. Handbook of Milk Composition. San Diego, Academic Press, Inc., 1995.
- 34. Garza C et al. Sampling milk for energy content. In: Jensen RG, Neville MC, eds. *Human Lactation*. Milk Components and Methodologies. New York, Plenum Press, 1985:115–119.
- 35. Garza C, Butte NF, Dewey KG. Determination of the energy content of human milk. In: Jensen RG, Neville MC, eds. *Human Lactation*. *Milk Components and Methodologies*. New York, Plenum Press, 1985: 121–126.

- 36. Butte NF et al. Energy requirements derived from total energy expenditure and energy deposition during the first 2 years of life. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 2000, **72**:1558–1569.
- 37. Butte NF et al. Infant feeding mode affects early growth and body composition. *Pediatrics*, 2000, **106**:1355–1366.
- 38. de Bruin NC et al. Energy utilization and growth in breast-fed and formula-fed infants measured prospectively during the first year of life. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1998, 67:885–896.
- 39. Heinig MJ et al. Energy and protein intakes of breast-fed and formula-fed infants during the first year of life and their association with growth velocity: the DARLING Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1993, 58:152–161.
- 40. Michaelsen KF et al. The Copenhagen cohort study on infant nutrition and growth: breast-milk intake, human milk macronutrient content, and influencing factors. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1994, 59:600–611.
- 41. Garza C & Hopkinson JM. Human milk synthesis and secretion. In: Grand RJ, Sutphen JL, Dietz WH, eds. *Pediatric Nutrition*, *Theory and Practice*. Boston, Butterworths, 1987:279–292.
- 42. Lönnerdal B. Methods for studying the total protein content of human milk. In: Jensen RG, Neville MC, eds. *Human lactation*. *Milk components and methodologies*. New York, Plenum Press, 1985:25–32.
- 43. Dewey KG, Finley DA, Lönnerdal B. Breast milk volume and composition during late lactation (7–20 months). *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1984, 3:713–720.
- 44. Nommsen LA et al. Determinants of energy, protein, lipid, and lactose concentrations in human milk during the first 12 months of lactation: the DARLING study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1991, 53:457–465.
- 45. Heinig MJ et al. Energy and protein intakes of breast-fed and formula-fed infants during the first year of life and their association with growth velocity: the DARLING Study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1993, 58:152–161.
- 46. Forsum E & Lönnerdal B. Effect of protein intake on protein and nitrogen composition of breast milk. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1980, 33:1809–1813.

- 47. Edozein JC, Rahim-Khan MA, Waslien CI. Human protein deficiency: results of a Nigerian village study. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1976, **106**:312–318.
- 48. Gopalan C. Effect of protein supplementation and some so-called "galactogogues" on lactation of poor Indian women. *Indian Journal of Medical Research*, 1956, 46:317–332.
- 49. Donovan SM & Lönnerdal B. Isolation of the nonprotein nitrogen fraction from human milk by gel-filtration chromatography and its separation by fast protein liquid chromatography. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1989, **50**:53–57.
- 50. Atkinson SA et al. The non-protein nitrogen components in human milk: biochemistry and potential functional role. In: Atkinson SA & Lönnerdal B, eds. *Proteins and non-protein nitrogen in human milk*. Boca Raton, Florida, CRC Press, 1989:117–133.
- Butte NF et al. Longitudinal changes in milk composition of mothers delivering preterm and term infants. Early Human Development, 1984, 9:153– 162.
- 52. FAO/WHO/UNU expert consultation on energy and protein requirements. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1985 (WHO Technical Report Series, No. 724).
- FAO/WHO ad hoc Expert Committee on energy and protein requirements. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1973.
- 54. Butte NF et al. Energy expenditure and deposition of breast-fed and formula-fed infants during early infancy. *Pediatric Research*, 1990, **28**:631–640.
- Donovan SM et al. Partition of nitrogen intake and excretion in low-birth-weight infants. American Journal of Diseases of Children, 1989, 143:1485–1491.
- 56. Schanler RJ et al. Enhanced faecal excretion of selected immune factors in very low birth weight infants fed fortified human milk. *Pediatric Research*, 1986, 20:711–715.
- 57. Fomon SJ & Olson JA. Vitamin A and the carotenoids. In: Fomon, SJ, ed. *Nutrition of Normal Infants*. St. Louis, Mosby, 1993:311–322.
- 58. Butte NF & Garza C. Energy and protein intakes of exclusively breastfed infants during the first four months of life. In: Gracey M, Falkner F, eds. Nutritional needs and assessment of normal growth. New York, Raven Press, 1985:63–84.

- 59. Dewey KG et al. Growth of breast-fed and formulafed infants from 0 to 18 months: the DARLING study. *Pediatrics*, 1992, **89**:1035–1041.
- 60. Duncan B et al. Reduced growth velocity in exclusively breast-fed infants. American Journal of Diseases of Children, 1984, 138:309–313.
- 61. Salmenperä L, Perheentupa J, Siimes MA. Exclusively breast-fed healthy infants grow slower than reference infants. *Pediatric Research*, 1985, 19:307–312.
- 62. Åkeson PM, Axelsson IE, Raiha NC. Growth and nutrient intake in three- to twelve-month-old infants fed human milk or formulas with varying protein concentrations. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1998, **26**:1–8.
- 63. Dewey KG et al. Do exclusively breast-fed infants require extra protein? *Pediatric Research*, 1996, **39**:303–307.
- 64. Graham GG, MacLean WC Jr, Placko RP. Plasma amino acids of infants consuming soybean proteins with and without added methionine. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1976, **106**:1307–1313.
- 65. Chandra RK & Newberne PM. Nutrition immunity and infections: mechanisms of interactions, New York, Plenum Press, 1977.
- 66. Zoppi G et al. Diet and antibody response to vaccinations in healthy infants. *Lancet*, 1983, 2:11–14.
- 67. Hahn-Zoric M et al. Antibody responses to parenteral and oral vaccines are impaired by conventional and low protein formulas as compared to breast-feeding. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica*, 1990, **79**:1137–1142.
- 68. Lucas A et al. Breast milk and subsequent intelligence quotient in children born preterm. *Lancet*, 1992, 339:261–264.
- 69. Rogan WJ & Gladen BC. Breast-feeding and cognitive development. Early Human Development, 1993, 31:181–193.
- 70. Pollitt E. Timing and vulnerability in research on malnutrition and cognition. *Nutrition Reviews*, **54**:S49–S55.
- 71. Olson JA, Gunning DB, Tilton RA. Liver concentrations of vitamin A and carotenoids, as a function of age and other parameters, of American children who died of various causes. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1984, 39:903–910.

- 72. Zachman RD. Retinol (vitamin A) and the neonate: special problems of the human premature infant. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1989, 50:413–424.
- 73. Stoltzfus RJ & Underwood BA. Breast-milk vitamin A as an indicator of the vitamin A status of women and infants. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 1995, 73:703–711.
- 74. Fredrikzon B. Bile salt-stimulated lipase in human milk: evidence of activity in vivo and of a role in the digestion of milk retinol esters. *Pediatric Research*, 1978, 12:1048–1052.
- 75. Muhilal et al. Vitamin A-fortified monosodium glutamate and health, growth, and survival of children: a controlled field trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1988, **48**:1271–1276.
- 76. DeMaeyer EM. A collaborative study on vitamins, minerals, and trace elements in breast milk. In: Berger H, ed. Vitamins and minerals in pregnancy and lactation. New York, Raven Press, 1988:339–349.
- 77. Gebre-Medhin M et al. Breast milk composition in Ethiopian and Swedish mothers. I. Vitamin A and beta-carotene. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1976, **29**:441–451.
- Rice AL et al. Maternal vitamin A or beta-carotene supplementation in lactating Bangladeshi women benefits mothers and infants but does not prevent subclinical deficiency. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1999, 129:356–365.
- 79. Roy SK et al. Impact of a single megadose of vitamin A at delivery on breastmilk of mothers and morbidity of their infants. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1997, **51**:302–307.
- 80. Stoltzfus RJ et al. High-dose vitamin A supplementation of breastfeeding Indonesian mothers: effects on the vitamin A status of mother and infant. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1993, 123:666–675.
- 81. Olson JA. Some aspects of vitamin A malnutrition. *Retina*, 1982, **2**:234–235.
- 82. Powers HJ. Vitamin requirements for term infants: considerations for infant formulae. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 1997, **10**:1–33.
- 83. Underwood BA. Biochemical and histological methodologies for assessing vitamin A status in human populations. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1990, 190:242–251.

- 84. Baker H et al. Vitamin profiles of 174 mothers and newborns at parturition. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1975, **28**:59–65.
- 85. Shirali GS, Oelberg DG, Mehta KP. Maternalneonatal serum vitamin A concentrations. *Journal* of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition, 1989, 9:62–66.
- 86. Shah RS & Rajalakshmi R. Vitamin A status of the newborn in relation to gestational age, body weight, and maternal nutritional status. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1984, **40**:794–800.
- 87. Underwood BA. Hypovitaminosis A: international programmatic issues. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1994, 124:1467S–1472S.
- 88. Indicators for assessing vitamin A deficiency and their application in monitoring and evaluating intervention programmes. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1996.
- 89. Rice AL et al. Evaluation of serum retinol, the modified-relative-dose-response ratio, and breast-milk vitamin A as indicators of response to post-partum maternal vitamin A supplementation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2000, 71:799–806.
- WHO/CDC. Randomised trial to assess benefits and safety of vitamin A supplementation linked to immunisation in early infancy. *Lancet*, 1998, 352: 1257–1263.
- 91. Mele L et al. Nutritional and household risk factors for xerophthalmia in Aceh, Indonesia: a case-control study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1991, 53:1460–1465.
- 92. Tarwotjo I et al. Xerophthalmia and growth in preschool Indonesian children. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1992, 55:1142–1146.
- 93. Rahmathullah L et al. Diarrhea, respiratory infections, and growth are not affected by a weekly low-dose vitamin A supplement: a masked controlled field trial in children in southern India. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1991, 54:568–577.
- 94. West KP et al. Vitamin A supplementation and growth: a randomized community trial. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1988, **48**:1257–1264.
- 95. Hadi H et al. Vitamin A supplementation selectively improves the linear growth of Indonesian preschool children: results from a randomized controlled trial. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2000, 71:507–513.

- 96. Hussein L et al. Lipid and retinol contents in the milk of Egyptian mothers with normal and sick infants. *International Journal for Vitamin and Nutrition Research*, 1986, **57**:3–11.
- 97. West KP et al. Breast-feeding, weaning patterns, and the risk of xerophthalmia in Southern Malawi. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1986, 44:690–697.
- 98. Stephensen CB et al. Vitamin A is excreted in the urine during acute infection. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1994, 60:388–392 (abs.).
- 99. Hussey GD & Klein M. A randomized, controlled trial of vitamin A in children with severe measles. New England Journal of Medicine, 1990, 323:160–164.
- 100. Humphrey JH et al. Impact of neonatal vitamin A supplementation on infant morbidity and mortality. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1996, 128:489–496.
- Coles CL et al. Vitamin A supplementation at birth delays pneumococcal colonization in South Indian infants. *Journal of Nutrition*, 2001, 131:255– 261.
- 102. Villamor E & Fawzie WW. Vitamin A supplementation: Implications for morbidity and mortality in children. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 2000, 182:S123–S133.
- 103. Sommer A et al. Impact of vitamin A supplementation on childhood mortality. A randomized controlled community trial. *Lancet*, 1986, 1:1169–1173.
- 104. Rahmathullah L et al. Reduced mortality among children in southern India receiving a small weekly dose of vitamin A. New England Journal of Medicine, 1990, 323:929–934.
- 105. Herrera MG et al. Vitamin A supplementation and child survival. *Lancet*, 1992, **340**:267–271.
- 106. Vijayaraghavan K et al. Effect of massive dose of vitamin A on morbidity and mortality in Indian children. *Lancet*, 1990, **304**:207–210.
- 107. Fawzie WW et al. Vitamin A supplementation and child mortality: a meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1993, **269**:898–903.
- 108. Glasziou PP & Mackerras DEM. Vitamin A supplementation in infectious diseases: a metaanalysis. British Medical Journal, 1993, 306:366– 370.

- 109. West KP et al. Mortality of infants < 6 mo of age supplemented with vitamin A: a randomized, double-masked trial in Nepal. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1995, 62:143–148.
- 110. Delvin EE et al. Cultured osteoblasts from normal and hypophosphatemic mice: calcitriol receptors and biological response to the hormone. *Bone*, 1990, 11:87–94.
- 111. Delvin EE. Vitamin D: metabolism, and effects on growth and development. *Acta Paediatrica*, Suppl. 1994, **405**:105–110.
- 112. Specker BL, Tsang RC, Hollis BW. Effect of race and diet on human-milk vitamin D and 25-hydroxyvitamin D. American Journal of Diseases of Children, 1985, 139:1134–1137.
- 113. Holick MF, MacLaughlin JA, Doppelt SH. Regulation of cutaneous previtamin D3 photosynthesis in man: skin pigment is not an essential regulator. *Science*, 1981, 211:590–593.
- 114. Hillman LS. Mineral and vitamin D adequacy in infants fed human milk or formula between 6 and 12 months of age. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1990, 117:S134–S142.
- 115. Specker BL et al. Sunshine exposure and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations in exclusively breast-fed infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1985, 107:372–376.
- 116. Ladizesky M et al. Solar ultraviolet B radiation and photo production of vitamin D3 in central and southern areas of Argentina. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 1995, **10**:545–549.
- 117. Ahmed I et al. Vitamin D deficiency rickets in breast-fed infants presenting with hypocalcaemic seizures. *Acta Paediatrica*, 1995, **84**:941–942.
- 118. Ala-Houhala M et al. Maternal compared with infant vitamin D supplementation. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 1986, 61:1159–1163.
- 119. Bawnik WYJC, Eisenberg Z, Spirer Z. Vitamin D metabolites in human milk. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1982, **100**:745–748.
- 120. Hollis BW et al. Vitamin D and its metabolites in human and bovine milk. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1981, 111:1240–1248.
- 121. Hollis BW. Individual quantitation of vitamin D2, vitamin D3, 25-hydroxyvitamin D2, and 25-hydroxyvitamin D3 in human milk. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 1983, **131**:219–229.

- 122. Food and Nutrition Board, I. Dietary reference intakes for calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, vitamin D and fluoride. Washington, DC, National Academy Press, 1997.
- 123. Haddad JG & Hahn TJ. Natural and synthetic sources of circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D in man. *Nature*, 1973, **244**:515–517.
- 124. Holick MF. Environmental factors that influence the cutaneous products of vitamin D. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1995, **61**:S638–S645.
- 125. Chan GM et al. Growth and bone mineralization of normal breast-fed infants and the effects of lactation on maternal bone mineral status. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1982, 36:438–443.
- 126. Greer FR et al. Bone mineral content and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration in breast-fed infants with and without supplemental vitamin D. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1981, **98**:696–701.
- 127. Greer FR et al. Bone mineral content and serum 25-OH D concentrations in breast-fed infants with and without supplemental vitamin D: one year follow-up. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1982, **100**:919–922.
- 128. Greer FR & Marshall S. Bone mineral content, serum vitamin D metabolite concentrations and ultraviolet B light exposure in infants fed human milk with and without vitamin D2 supplements. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1989, 114:204–212.
- 129. Roberts CC et al. Adequate bone mineralization in breast-fed infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1981, **99**:192–196.
- 130. Markestad T et al. Serum concentrations of vitamin D metabolites in exclusively breast-fed infants at 70 degrees north. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica*, 1984, 73:29–32.
- 131. Namgung R et al. Low total body bone mineral content and high bone resorption in Korean winter-born versus summer-born newborn infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1998, 132:421–425.
- 132. Park MJ et al. Bone mineral content is not reduced despite low vitamin D status in breast milk-fed infants versus cow's milk based formula-fed infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1998, 132:641–645.
- 133. Specker BL et al. Prospective study of vitamin D supplementation and rickets in China. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1992, **120**:733–739.

- 134. Zeghoud F et al. Subclinical vitamin D deficiency in neonates: definition and response to vitamin D supplements. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1997, **65**:771–778.
- 135. Bilzekian JP et al. Characterization and evaluation of asymptomatic primary hyperparathyroidism. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 1991, **6**:585–589.
- 136. Silverberg PA et al. Increased bone mineral density after parathyroidectomy in primary hyperparathyroidism. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 1995, **80**:729–734.
- 137. Lapatsanis P, Deliyanni V, Doxiadis S. Vitamin D deficiency rickets in Greece. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1968, **73**:195–202.
- 138. Laditan AAO & Adeniyi A. Rickets in Nigerian children response to vitamin D. *Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 1975, **78**:206–209.
- 139. Bachrach S, Fisher J, Parks JS. An outbreak of vitamin D deficiency rickets in a susceptible population. *Pediatrics*, 1979, **64**:871–877.
- 140. Edidin DV et al. Resurgence of nutritional rickets associated with breast-feeding and special dietary practices. *Pediatrics*, 1980, **65**:232–235.
- 141. Atiq M et al. Vitamin D status of breastfed Pakistani infants. Acta Pædiatrica, 1998, **87**:737–740.
- 142. Greer FR & Tsang RC. Vitamin D in human milk: is there enough? *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1983, 2:S277–S281.
- 143. Kreiter SR et al. Nutritional rickets in African American breast-fed infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 2000, 137:153–157.
- 144. Feliciano ES et al. Seasonal and geographical variations in the growth rate of infants in China receiving increasing dosages of vitamin D supplements. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics*, 1994, **40**:162–165.
- 145. Fomon SJ, Younoszai MK, Thomas LN. Influence of vitamin D on linear growth of normal full-term infants. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1988, **66**:345–350.
- 146. Brooke OG et al. Vitamin D supplements in pregnant Asian women: effect on calcium status and fetal growth. *British Medical Journal*, 1980, 280:751–754.

- 147. Brooke OG, Butters F, Wood C. Intrauterine vitamin D nutrition and postnatal growth in Asian infants. *British Medical Journal*, 1981, 273:1024.
- 148. Brooke OG & Wood C. Growth in British Asians: longitudinal data in the first year. *Journal of Human Nutrition*, 1980, 34:355–359.
- 149. West KD & Kirksey A. Influence of vitamin B6 intake on the content of the vitamin in human milk. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1976, 29:961–969.
- 150. Food and Nutrition Board, I. Dietary reference intakes for thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B6, folate, vitamin B12, pantothenic acid, biotin and choline. Washington DC, National Academy Press, 2000.
- 151. McCullough AL et al. Vitamin B-6 status of Egyptian mothers: relation to infant behavior and maternal-infant interactions. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1990, **51**:1067–1074.
- 152. Kang-Yoon SA et al. Vitamin B-6 adequacy in neonatal nutrition: Associations with preterm delivery, type of feeding, and vitamin B-6 supplementation. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1995, **62**:932–942.
- 153. Udipi SA et al. Vitamin B6, vitamin C and folacin levels in milk from mothers of term and preterm infants during the neonatal period. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1985, **42**:522–530.
- 154. Styslinger L & Kirksey A. Effects of different levels of vitamin B-6 supplementation on vitamin B-6 concentrations in human milk and vitamin B-6 intakes of breastfed infants. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1985, 41:21–31.
- 155. Lui A et al. Relationship between body store of vitamin B6 and plasma pyridoxal-P clearance: metabolic balance studies in humans. *The Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine*, 1985, **106**:491–497.
- 156. Heiskanen K et al. Reference ranges for erythrocyte pyridoxal 5'-phosphate concentration and the erythrocyte aspartate transaminase stimulation test in lactating mothers and their infants. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1994, **59**:1297–1303.
- 157. Cleary RE, Lumeng L, Li TK. Maternal and fetal plasma levels of pyridoxal phosphate at term: adequacy of vitamin B6 supplementation during pregnancy. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 1975, 121:25–28.

- 158. Heiskanen K et al. Low vitamin B6 status associated with slow growth in healthy breast-fed infants. *Pediatric Research*, 1995, **38**:740–746.
- 159. Heiskanen K et al. Risk of low vitamin B6 status in infants breast-fed exclusively beyond six months. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1996, 23:38–44.
- 160. Kang-Yoon SA et al. Vitamin B-6 status of breastfed neonates: influence of pyridoxine supplementation on mothers and neonates. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1992, **56**:548–558.
- 161. Laskey MA et al. Breast-milk calcium concentrations during prolonged lactation in British and rural Gambian mothers. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica*, 1990, **79**:507–512.
- 162. Prentice A et al. Vitamin D status does not influence the breast-milk calcium concentration of lactating mothers accustomed to a low calcium intake. *Acta Paediatrica*, 1997, **86**:1006–1008.
- 163. Lönnerdal B. Effects of milk and milk components on calcium, magnesium, and trace element absorption during infancy. *Physiological Reviews*, 1997, 77:643–669.
- 164. Specker BL et al. Randomized trial of varying mineral intake on total body bone mineral accretion during the first year of life. *Pediatrics*, 1997, **6**:E12.
- 165. Prentice A. Calcium intakes and bone densities of lactating women and breast-fed infants in the Gambia. In: Allen L, King J, Lönnerdal B, eds. Nutrient Regulation during Pregnancy, Lactation, and Infant Growth. New York, Plenum Press, 1994:243–255.
- 166. Fomon SJ & Nelson SE. Calcium, phosphorus, magnesium, and sulfur. In: Fomon SJ, ed. Nutrition of Normal Infants, St. Louis, Mosby, 1993:192–216.
- 167. Widdowson EM. Absorption and excretion of fat, nitrogen, and minerals from "filled" milks by babies one week old. *Lancet*, 1965, 2:1099–1105.
- 168. Abrams SA, Wen JP, Stuff JE. Absorption of calcium, zinc, and iron from breast milk by five-to seven-month-old infants. *Pediatric Research*, 1997, 41:384–390.
- 169. Leitch I & Aitken FC. The estimation of calcium requirement: a re-examination. *Nutrition Abstracts and Reviews*, 1959, **29**:393–409.

- 170. Garn SM. The course of bone gain and the phases of bone loss. *The Orthopedic Clinics of North America*, 1972, 3:503–520.
- 171. Weaver CM. Age-related calcium requirements due to changes in absorption and utilization. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1994, 124:1418S–1425S.
- 172. Butte NF et al. Body composition during the first two years of life: an updated reference. *Pediatric Research*, 2000, **47**:578–585.
- 173. Ellis KJ et al. Total body calcium and bone mineral content: Comparison of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry with neutron activation analysis. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 1996, **11**:843–848.
- 174. Sigman M & Lönnerdal B. Response of rat mammary gland transferrin receptors to maternal dietary iron during pregnancy and lactation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1990, 52:446–450.
- 175. Dallman PR, Siimes MA, Stekel A. Iron deficiency in infancy and childhood. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1980, 33:86–118.
- 176. Dallman PR. Nutritional anemia of infancy: iron, folic acid, and vitamin B12. In: Tsang RC, Nichols BL, eds. Nutrition During Infancy. Philadelphia, Henley and Belfus, Inc., 1988:216-235.
- 177. Fomon SJ. Nutrition of Normal Infants. St. Louis, Mosby, 1993.
- 178. Stekel A. Iron requirements in infancy and childhood. In: Stekel A, ed. *Iron Nutrition in Infancy and Childhood*. New York, Raven, 1984:1–10.
- 179. Davidsson L et. al. Influence of lactoferrin on iron absorption from human milk in infants. *Pediatric Research*, 1994, **35**:117–124.
- 180. Fomon SJ, Ziegler EE, Nelson SE. Erythrocyte incorporation of ingested 58Fe by 56-day-old breast-fed and formula-fed infants. *Pediatric Research*, 1993, **33**:573–576.
- 181. Schulz-Lell G et al. Iron balances in infant nutrition. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica*, 1987, **76**:585-591.
- 182. Duncan B et al. Iron and the exclusively breastfed infant from birth to 6 months. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1985, 4:421–425.

- 183. Lönnerdal B & Hernell O. Iron, zinc, copper and selenium status of breast-fed infants and infants fed trace element fortified milk-based infant formula. *Acta Paediatrica*, 1994, 83:367-373.
- 184. Saarinen UM & Siimes MA. Iron absorption from infant milk formula and the optimal level of iron supplementation. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica*, 1977, **66**:719–722.
- 185. Siimes MA, Salmenperä L, Perheentupa J. Exclusive breast-feeding for 9 months: risk of iron deficiency. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1984, **104**:196–199.
- 186. Pisacone A et al. Iron status in breast-fed infants. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1995, **127**:429–431.
- 187. Pizarro F et al. Iron status with different infant feeding regimens: relevance to screening and prevention of iron deficiency. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1991, 118:687–692.
- 188. Krebs NF et al. Zinc supplementation during lactation: effects on maternal status and milk zinc concentrations. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1995, **61**:1030–1036.
- 189. Moser-Veillon PB & Reynolds RD. A longitudinal study of pyridoxine and zinc supplementation of lactating women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1990, **52**:135–141.
- 190. Moore MEC, Moran RJ, Green HL. Zinc supplementation in lactating women: evidence for mammary control of zinc secretion. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 1984, **105**:600–602.
- 191. Krebs NF et al. The effects of a dietary zinc supplement during lactation on longitudinal changes in maternal zinc status and milk zinc concentrations. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1985, **41**:560–570.
- 192. Salmenperä L et al. Low zinc intake during exclusive breast-feeding does not impair growth. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1994, **18**:361–370.
- 193. Ortega RM et al. Zinc levels in maternal milk: the influence of nutritional status with respect to zinc during the third trimester of pregnancy. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1997, **51**:253–258.
- 194. Krebs NF. Zinc supplementation during lactation. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1998, **68**:509S–512S.

- 195. Bye AM, Goodfellow A, Atherton D J. Transient zinc deficiency in a full-term breast-fed infant of normal birth weight. *Pediatric Dermatology*, 1985, 2:308–311.
- 196. Glover MT & Atherton DJ. Transient zinc deficiency in two full-term breast-fed siblings associated with low maternal breast milk zinc concentrations. *Pediatric Dermatology*, 1988, 5:10– 13.
- 197. Khoshoo V et al. Zinc deficiency in a full-term breast-fed infant: Unusual presentation. *Pediatrics*, 1992, **89**:1094–1095.
- 198. Kuramoto Y et al. Acquired zinc deficiency in two breast-fed mature infants. *Acta Dermato-Venereologica*, 1986, **66**:359–361.
- 199. Lee MG, Hong KT, Kim JJ. Transient zinc deficiency in two full-term breast-fed siblings associated with low maternal breast milk zinc concentrations. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 1990, 23:375–379.
- 200. Roberts LJ, Shadwick CF, Bergstresser PR. Zinc deficiency in two full-term breast-fed infants. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 1987, 16:301–304.
- 201. Michaelsen KF et al. Zinc intake, zinc status and growth in a longitudinal study of healthy Danish infants. *Acta Paediatrica*, 1994, 83:1115–1121.
- 202. Sievers E et al. Longitudinal zinc balances in breast-fed and formula-fed infants. *Acta Paediatrica*, 1992, **81**:1–6.
- 203. Serfass RE, Ziegler EE, Edwards BB. Intrinsic and extrinsic stable isotopic zinc absorption by infants from formulas. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1989, **119**: 1661–1669.
- 204. Krebs NF et al. Zinc homeostasis in breast-fed infants. *Pediatric Research*, 1996, **39**:661–665.
- 205. Walravens PA et al. Zinc supplements in breastfed infants. *Lancet*, 1992, **340**:683–685.
- 206. Krebs NF, Westcott JE, Butler-Simon N. Effect of a zinc supplement on growth of normal breastfed infants. Journal of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 1996, 10:A230 (abs.).
- 207. Krebs NF. Zinc transfer to the breastfed infant. *Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia*, 1999, 4:259–268.

- 208. Zlotkin SH & Cherian GM. Hepatic metallothionein as a source of zinc and cysteine during the first year of life. *Pediatric Research*, 1988, **24**:326–329.
- 209. Krebs NF & Hambidge KM. Zinc requirements and zinc intakes of breast-fed infants. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1986, 43:288–292.
- 210. Widdowson EM, Southgate DAT, Hey E. Fetal growth and body composition. In: Lindblad BS., ed. *Perinatal Nutrition*. New York, Academic Press, 1988:3–14.
- Trace elements in human nutrition. Report of a WHO Expert Committee. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1973 (WHO Technical Report Series No. 532).
- 212. Goldberg GR et al. Longitudinal assessment of the components of energy balance in well-nourished lactating women. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1991, 54:788–798.
- 213. Hofvander Y et al. The amount of milk consumed by 1–3 months old breast- or bottle-fed infants. Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica, 1982, 71:953–958.
- 214. Janas LM, Picciano MF, Hatch TF. Indices of protein metabolism in term infants fed human milk, whey-predominant formula, or cow's milk formula. *Pediatrics*. 1985, **75**:775–784.
- 215. Köhler L, Meeuwisse G, Mortensson W. Food intake and growth of infants between six and twenty-six weeks of age on breast milk, cow's milk formula, or soy formula. *Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica*, 1984, 73:40–48.
- 216. Lönnerdal B, Forsum E, Hambraeus L. A longitudinal study of the protein, nitrogen, and lactose contents of human milk from Swedish well-nourished mothers. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1976, **29**:1127–1133.
- 217. Pao EM., Himes JM, Roche AF. Milk intakes and feeding patterns of breast-fed infants. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 1980, **77**:540–545.
- 218. Picciano MF et al. Milk and mineral intakes of breastfed infants. Acta Paediatrica Scandinavica, 1981, 70:189–194.
- 219. Rattigan S, Ghisalberti AV, Hartman PE. Breastmilk production in Australian women. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 1981, **45**:243–249.

- 220. Stuff JE et al. Sources of variation in milk and calorie intakes in breast-fed infants: implications for lactation study design and interpretation. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1986, 43:361–366.
- 221. van Raaij JMA et al. Energy cost of lactation, and energy balances of well-nourished Dutch lactating women: reappraisal of the extra energy requirements of lactation. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1991, **53**:612–619.
- 222. Wood CS et al. Exclusively breast-fed infants: growth and caloric intake. *Pediatric Nursing*, 1988, 14:117–124.
- 223. Paul AA et al. Breast-milk intake and growth in infants from two to ten months. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 1988, 1:437–450.
- 224. Prentice A et al. Cross-cultural differences in lactational performance. In: Hamosh M, Goldman AS, eds. Human Lactation 2: Maternal and Environmental Factors. New York, Plenum Press, 1986:13–44.
- 225. The quantity and quality of breast milk. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1985.
- 226. Gonzalez-Cossio T et al. Impact of food supplementation during lactation on infant breastmilk intake and on the proportion of infants exclusively breast-fed. *Journal of Nutrition*, 1998, 128:1692–1702.
- 227. van Steenbergen WM et al. Nutritional transition during infancy in East Java, Indonesia: 1. A longitudinal study of feeding pattern, breast milk intake and the consumption of additional foods. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1991, 45: 67–75.

- 228. Frigerio C et al. A new procedure to assess the energy requirements of lactation in Gambian women. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1991, 54:526–533.
- 229. Hennart P & Vis HL. Breast-feeding and post partum amenorrhoea in Central Africa. 1. Milk production in rural areas. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics*, 1980, **26**:177–183.
- 230. van Steenbergen WM, Kusin JA, van Rens MM. Lactation performance of Akamba mothers, Kenya. Breast feeding behaviour, breast milk yield and composition. *Journal of Tropical Pediatrics*, 1981, 27:161.
- 231. Motil KJ et al. Human milk protein does not limit growth of breast-fed infants. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition*, 1997, **24**:10–17.
- 232. Nielsen GA, Thomsen BL, Michaelsen KF. Influence of breastfeeding and complementary food on growth between 5 and 10 months. *Acta Pædiatrica*, 1998, 87:911–917.
- 233. Leerbeck E & Sondergaard H. The total content of vitamin D in human milk and cow's milk. *The British Journal of Nutrition*, 1980, **44**:7–12.
- Reeve LL, Russell WC, DeLuca HF. Vitamin D of human milk: identification of biologically active forms. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 1982, 36:122–126.
- 235. Zoeren-Grobben DV et al. Human milk vitamin content after pasteurization, storage, or tube feeding. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 1987, 62:161–165.

SELECTED WHO PUBLICATIONS OF RELATED INTEREST

The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding. A systematic review

http://www.who.int/child-adolescent-health/New_Publications/NUTRITION/WHO_CAH_01_23.pdf

The optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding. Report of an expert consultation

http://www.who.int/child-adolescent-health/ New_Publications/NUTRITION/WHO_CAH_01_24.pdf

Global strategy for infant and young child feeding

Fifty-fifth World Health Assembly, May 2002, document A55/15.

http://www.who.int/gb/EB_WHA/PDF/WHA55/ea5515.pdf

WHO Global Database on Growth and Malnutrition

http://www.who.int/nutgrowthdb/

Infant feeding: the physiological basis

1990, 108 pages, ISBN 92 4 068670 3 Order no. 0036701

Protecting, promoting and supporting breast-feeding

The special role of maternity services. A joint WHO/ UNICEF statement.

1989, iv + 32 pages, ISBN 92 4 156130 0 Order no. 1150326

Evidence for the ten steps to successful breastfeeding

1998, vi + 111 pages, WHO/CHD/98.9 Order no. 1930142

Hypoglycaemia of the newborn

Review of the literature

1997, ii + 55 pages, WHO/CHD/97.1; WHO/MSM/97.1 Order no. 1930165

Promoting breast-feeding in health facilities

1996, 391 pages, 154 colour slides, eight training modules in loose-leaf binder, WHO/NUT/96.3 Order no. 1930100

The baby-friendly hospital initiative

Monitoring and reassessment: tools to sustain progress 1999, four sections in a loose-leaf binder with computerized reporting system, WHO/NHD/99.2

Breastfeeding counselling – a training course, 1993

Document WHO/CHD/95.2

HIV and infant feeding

- Guidelines for decision-makers
 Document WHO/FRH/NUT/CHD/98.1

 http://www.unaids.org/unaids/document/mother-to-child/infantpolicy.pdf
- A guide for health care managers and supervisors Document WHO/FRH/NUT/CHD/98.2 http://www.unaids.org/unaids/document/mother-to-child/infantguide.pdf
- A review of HIV transmission through breastfeeding Document WHO/FRH/NUT/CHD/98.3 http://www.unaids.org./highband/document/mother-to-child/hivmod3.pdf

Complementary feeding: family foods for breastfed children

2000, iii + 52 pages WHO/NHD/00.1; WHO/FCH/CAH/00.6 In developing countries: Sw.fr. 7.70. Order no. 1930177

Complementary feeding of young children in developing countries

A review of current scientific knowledge 1998, ix + 228 pages, WHO/NUT/98.1 Order no. 1930141

Further information on these and other WHO publications can be obtained from

Marketing and Dissemination World Health Organization 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland e-mail: publications@who.int Direct fax: +41 22 791 4857 Phone: +41 22 791 2476

Links to related Web sites:

http://www.who.int/nut/publications.htm

http://www.who.int/child-adolescent-health

This review, which was prepared as part of the background documentation for a WHO expert consultation, evaluates the nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding for term infants during the first 6 months of life. Nutrient intakes provided by human milk are compared with infant nutrient requirements. To avoid circular arguments, biochemical and physiological methods, independent of human milk, are used to define these requirements.

The review focuses on human-milk nutrients, which may become growth limiting, and on nutrients for which there is a high prevalence of maternal dietary deficiency in some parts of the world; it assesses the adequacy of energy, protein, calcium, iron, zinc, and vitamins A, B6, and D. This task is confounded by the fact that the physiological needs for vitamins A and D, iron, zinc — and possibly other nutrients — are met by the combined availability of nutrients in human milk and endogenous nutrient stores.

In evaluating the nutrient adequacy of exclusive breastfeeding, infant nutrient requirements are assessed in terms of relevant functional outcomes. Nutrient adequacy is most commonly evaluated in terms of growth, but other functional outcomes, e.g. immune response and neurodevelopment, are also considered to the extent that available data permit.

This review is limited to the nutrient needs of infants. It does not evaluate functional outcomes that depend on other bioactive factors in human milk, or behaviours and practices that are inseparable from breastfeeding, nor does it consider consequences for mothers. In determining the optimal duration of exclusive breastfeeding in specific contexts, it is important that functional outcomes, e.g. infant morbidity and mortality, also are taken into consideration.

For further information please contact:

Department of Nutrition for Health and Development (NHD)

World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel: +41 22 791 3320

Fax: +41 22 791 4156 email: deonism@who.int website: www.who.int/nut

Department of Child and Adolescent Health and Development (CAH)

World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia 1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland Tel +41-22 791 3281

Tel +41-22 791 3281 Fax +41-22 791 4853 email: cah@who.int

website: http://www.who.int/child-adolescent-health